©2020

Laura Marques Soares

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF WIRELESS CHARGING TECHNIQUES FOR ELECTRIC GROUND FLEET IN AIRPORTS

By

LAURA MARQUES SOARES

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the degree of

Master of Science

Graduate Program in Civil & Environmental Engineering

Written under the direction of

Hao Wang

And approved by

New Brunswick, New Jersey

October 2020

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Economic Feasibility and Environmental Impact of Wireless Charging Techniques for Electric Ground Fleet in Airports

By LAURA MARQUES SOARES

Thesis Director:

Hao Wang

Balancing environmental, economic, and social issues is challenging for industry sectors and government agencies. According to the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) of the United States (U.S.), the transportation sector was responsible for 29% of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the U.S. in 2017. Electric mobility is an alternative to mitigate this issue by substituting fossil fuels for electricity. In addition, the use of energy from a renewable source will increase even more environmental benefits. Charging these vehicles can be wireless or wired, stationary, or in-motion.

Many airports are converting the conventional ground fleet to electric vehicles to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and increase airport operations sustainability. It is necessary to understand the economic feasibility and environmental impacts of this change to justify the decision. This study first used life cycle cost analysis (LCCA) to compare electrified ground fleet's economic performance compared to conventional fossil fuel option. Three different charging systems (plug-in charging, stationary wireless charging, and dynamic wireless charging) for pushback tractors and inter-terminal buses at a major hub airport were considered in the analysis. Although the conventional fossil fuel options present the lowest initial cost for both fleets, it costs the most in a 30-year analysis period. Among three electric charging infrastructures, the plug-in charging station shows the least accumulative present value of cost. Although the electric ground fleet is proved to show economic benefits, the most cost-effective charging infrastructure may vary depending on driving mileage and system design. The use of LCCA to analyze new systems and infrastructures for decision-making is highly recommended.

Life-cycle assessment (LCA) is then used to quantify the environmental impact of electric fleet compared to conventional fossil fuel vehicles. The assessment was analyzed for energy consumption and emission of CO_{2-eq} respectively to assess Cumulative Energy Demand (CED) and Global Warming (GW) potential. The results show that the operation phase outweighs any initial impact from manufacturing and charger construction phases; the operations phase accounts for both the highest CED and GW values. For both pushbacks and buses, the electric options are shown to have very similar impacts. The lower impact option can quickly change depending on the design. On the other hand, the conventional vehicle system presented the highest impact on the two studied categories for both fleets. The discrepancy between conventional buses and all three electric options is even higher on the bus fleet study, suggesting that electric buses are environmentally better than conventional.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank his professor and advisor Hao Wang for his unconditional support and guidance along this research and thesis. To Airport Cooperative Research Program (ACRP) panel members for their input and guidance. To the Port Authority NY NJ to provide a visit through Newark Liberty International Airport and essential information used in this thesis. To April Clemmensen for her assistance on the Life Cycle Assessment of this research. Additionally, I would like to thank my family and friends for giving me support and motivation throughout these years: Edgard, Vania, Helena, Ranyer, Brian, Meg, Zoe, Victoria, Eleanna, Trevor, Diego, Aisha, and Claudia.

DEDICATION

Para meus pais, Vânia de Oliveira Marques e José Edgard Soares Júnior, e para minhas avós Maria José de Oliveira Marques e Mafalda Cotta de Vasconcellos.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract of the thesis	ii			
Acknowledgements iv				
Dedication	v			
Table of Contents	vi			
List of Figures	viii			
List of Tables	x			
Chapter 1 Introduction				
1.1. Background				
1.2. Problem of Statement				
1.3. Objective and Scope	6			
Chapter 2 Literature Review	7			
2.1 Traditional Charging Infrastructure for Electric Vehicle	7			
2.1.1 Battery Swapping Station	7			
2.1.2 Stationary Charging Station				
2.2 In-Motion Charging on eRoads	9			
2.2.1 The principle of eRoads	9			
2.2.2 Conductive Charging in an eRoad				
2.2.3 Wireless Charging in an eRoad				
2.2.4 Comparison between different charging methods for eRoad				
2.3 Advancements in Wireless Charging Techniques				
2.3.1 Microwave Power Transfer				
2.3.2 Capacitive Wireless Power Transfer	16			
2.3.3 Magnetic Gear Wireless Power Transfer	16			
2.3.4 Inductive Power Transfer	17			
2.3.5 Inductive Coupled Power Transfer	17			
2.3.6 Resonant Inductive Power Transfer				
2.3.7 Potential of wireless charging technologies for eRoad				
2.4 Design and Construction of eRoad using ICPT				
2.4.1 ICPT Design				
2.4.2 Construction of eRoad				
Chapter 3: Life cycle cost analysis				
3.1 LCCA Principle				
3.2 Case Study for Pushback Tractors				
3.2.1 Analysis Assumptions				
3.2.2 Cost Components				
3.2.3 Analysis and Results				
3.3 Case Study for Inter-terminal Buses				
3.3.1 Analysis Assumptions				
3.3.2 Cost Components				
3.3.3 Analysis and Results	39			

3.4	Comparison Between Two Case Studies	
Chapte	r 4: Life cycle assessment analysis of charging techniques	44
4.1	LCA Methodology	44
4.1.1	Framework	44
4.1.2	2 Goal and Scope	45
4.1.3	3 System Boundary	46
4.2	Life-Cycle Inventory	47
4.2.1	Vehicle Equipment	
4.2.2	2 Charging Infrastructure	
4.2.3	3 Vehicle Operation	53
4.3	Results and Discussion	54
4.3.1	Cumulative Energy Demand	54
4.3.2	2 Global Warming	57
Chapte	er 5: Conclusion	60
5.1	Findings and Conclusions	60
5.2	Future Research Recommendations	62
Refere	nces	64

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Pushback tractor or "Super tug" at Newark Liberty International Airport 5
Figure 2 Inter-terminal buses in Dulles Airport, VA
Figure 3 Illustration of eRoad structure using inductive coupled power transfer: (a)
system design; and (b) layout of charging unit
Figure 4 Flowchart of LCCA
Figure 5 Schematic Illustration of Airport Layout and Pushback Route
Figure 6 Initial Investments of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Pushback
Figure 7 Annual Present Values of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Pushback 34
Figure 8 Cumulative Present Values of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Pushback
Figure 9 Schematic Illustration of Airport Layout and Inter-terminal Bus Route
Figure 10 Initial Investments of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Inter-terminal
Bus
Figure 11 Annual Present Values of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Inter-
terminal Bus
Figure 12 Cumulative Present Values of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Inter-
terminal Bus
Figure 13 Life Cycle Assessment framework
Figure 14 LCA System Boundary 47
Figure 15 Cumulative Energy Demand of diesel fueled Pushback Tractor Fleet with
Internal Normalization

Figure 16 Cumulative Energy Demand Internal of diesel fueled Bus Fleet with Int	ernal
Normalization	56
Figure 17 Global Warming Internal Normalization based on diesel fueled system	for
pushback tractor fleet	58
Figure 18 Global Warming Internal Normalization based on diesel fueled system	for bus
fleet	59

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Characteristics of different charging technologies for eRoad 13
Table 2 Advantages and disadvantages of different charging technologies for eRoad 14
Table 3 Comparisons of Characteristics of Wireless Charging Technologies 20
Table 4 Advantages and Disadvantages of Construction Methods of eRoad 25
Table 5 Fleet size and service level using different fueling/charging methods
Table 6 General cost parameters for LCCA 31
Table 7 Project cost parameters and intermediate calculated values
Table 8 Bus Fleet Characteristics per System
Table 9 Project cost parameters and intermediate calculated values
Table 10 Electric Pushback Tractor Vehicle System Life Cycle Inventory 49
Table 11 Electric Bus Vehicle System Life Cycle Inventory 49
Table 12 Life Cycle Inventory for Pushback with Combustion Engine 50
Table 13 Life Cycle Inventory for Buses with Combustion Engine
Table 14 Charging Infrastructure Inventory for Pushback Tractors 52
Table 15 Charging Infrastructure for Buses
Table 16 Total CED and GW for Operational Energy Demands 54
Table 17 CED (GJ) per phase and function unit – Pushback Tractor Fleet 55
Table 18 CED (GJ) per phase and functional unit – Bus Fleet
Table 19 GW (10 ³ kgCO ₂) per phase and function unit for pushback tractor fleet
Table 20 GW (10 ³ kgCO ₂) per phase and function unit for bus fleet

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1. Background

According to the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) of the United States (U.S.), the transportation sector is responsible for 29% of GHGs in the U.S. in 2017. Fossil fuel emissions also affect human health, thereby increase the incidence of diseases like asthmas, high blood pressure, lung cancer, diabetes, Alzheimer's disease, dementia, and premature deaths (Requia et al., 2018). Fossil fuel consumption has encountered an economic downturn: fuel price volatility and foreign oil dependency. In this situation, electric mobility is a promising transportation option due to its capability of reducing CO2 footprint, pollution, and becoming less dependent on foreign oil and fuel price (Deloitte, 2010). Electric mobility coupled with low-carbon electricity sources is a transportation alternative that provides reduced greenhouse gas emissions (Hawkins et al., 2012). Electric vehicles do not produce tailpipe pollution (Luin et al., 2019). The pollution generated exclusively depends on the electricity source. The environmental benefits are high when the energy source is sustainable, such as solar, wind, hydropower, and geothermal. Electric mobility using non-renewable energy also has an advantage compared to conventional vehicles; a fossil fuel-fired power generator has concentrated emission that can be treated more efficiently and effectively (Cai and Xu, 2013).

Electric vehicles are becoming more common and are expected to significantly penetrate the market by the year 2020 (Gill et al., 2014). In addition to the possibility of using renewable energy sources, other benefits of electric vehicles (EVs) are government tax credits, emission regulation accordance, improved fuel economy, and vehicle maintenance economy (Deloitte, 2010). Although there are many benefits with EVs, there are also drawbacks preventing using EVs on the existing

roadway. Some of those are high vehicle prices, long charging time, range anxiety, battery size, cost and weight, few charging stations, safety issues concerning charging in the rain and snow, and reliability (Deloitte, 2010, Gill et al., 2014, and Kalwat et al., 2015). According to a study conducted by Deloitte Consultant, the six potential barriers to the mass adoption of EVs are familiarity, brand, range, charging, infrastructure, and price. Dijik et al. (2013) claim that electric mobility's future depends on developments in infrastructure, mobility, car manufacturing industry, energy prices, and the electricity sector (Dijk et al., 2013). EVs will penetrate with a high market rate when the infrastructure is prepared to provide convenient charging facilities for consumers. Charging facilities consist of recharge points in charging stations, battery swapping stations, and electric roads. Currently, battery electric vehicles are usually limited to light-duty vehicles due to the battery's low energy density (Connolly, 2017).

Electric roads (eRoads) could be a key factor in accelerating EVs' market penetration by increasing the drive range and eliminating waiting time for charging. The eRoad is the charging infrastructure itself, and the price of vehicles will also reduce since fewer battery will be required. Therefore, an integration of Electrified Road infrastructure into the current transportation network can be a promising solution to promote EVs' popularity and enhance the sustainability of the road transportation sector (Cheng et al., 2015). An Electrified Road (eRoad) is defined as a transportation infrastructure that can "deliver the electrical power to charge EVs efficiently while stationary or even in motion, using specific conductive or contactless charging systems" (Cheng et al., 2015). For the eRoad to be sustainably implemented and used, a combination of multidisciplinary aspects must be studied. The eRoads demand different building methods as compared to traditional roads and require more complex operations and elaborate maintenance plans.

1.2. Problem of Statement

The aviation sector faces sustainability challenges not only in the air but also in ground transportation and airport infrastructure. There are several paths to increase sustainability in the aviation sector, such as aircraft engine technology to improve efficiency, utilizing biofuels, promoting electric aircraft development, migrating ground fleet to electric power, and other green initiatives. Airports have been implementing electric vehicles in their ground fleet as one initiative to mitigate environmental impacts and decrease operational costs. In the United States, the San Diego Airport launched ten electric airport shuttles in May 2019. JetBlue introduced an electric ground service fleet (totaling 59 baggage tractors and 59 belt loaders) at the John F. Kennedy International Airport. In the United Kingdom, Birmingham Airport and Glasgow International Airport implemented electric bus fleets, and Heathrow Airport added more than 50 vehicles to its ground fleet. Additionally, Munich Airport in Germany, Budapest Airport in Hungary, and Soekarno-Hatta International Airport in Indonesia all implemented similar measures.

Charging infrastructure is required to facilitate the use of electric vehicles at the airport. The decision to substitute conventional vehicles with electric vehicles can be impeded by the high investment cost and long payback time of charging infrastructure. Understanding the lifetime cost of each option can add value to decision making. Although transportation agencies usually have an annual budget, it is important to analyze the investment option with a high initial cost and great return in the life cycle. Therefore, it is needed to analyze the life-cycle costs of charging infrastructure for electric vehicles to make better decisions.

The Guidebook for Developing a Zero- or Low-Emissions Roadmap at Airports by Morisson et al. (2020) provides information and resource to create a zero or low-emission roadmap from start to finish. Among different strategies such as support the use of sustainable aviation biofuels and build on-site renewable energy, the guidebook also suggests supporting infrastructure for electric Ground Service Equipment (GSE). The use of electric GSE is an appropriate fit, as the functional use of these vehicles is confined to the local airport area, mitigating many issues regarding the driving range that have hampered electric vehicle adoption in other areas. One promising new technology in wireless power transfer charging would further reduce that concern and potentially alleviate time spent refueling. However, no studies have been conducted to evaluate the sustainability benefits brought by the electrification of GSE at airports. This process-based Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) aims to quantify the impact of electric GSE compared to conventional diesel operations in terms of energy demand and global warming.

This initial study will focus on two representative vehicles of GSE at airports: pushback tractors and inter-terminal buses. After a technical visit to Newark International Airport, which included interviews and follow-up consultations with airport operations managers and vehicle experts, one of the focus vehicle selected is the 'super tugs' or pushbacks, specifically the highest capacity tug that can move the largest aircraft. The main reason for this is that pushbacks are in high demand around the clock in airport operations; optimizing its use, by avoiding stops and refueling time, will benefit the entire airport operation (Lanieri, 2020). Furthermore, pushbacks represent a specific challenge when it comes to implementing electric vehicle operations at airports. They require a greater amount of power and are a more specialized vehicle than a typical baggage truck or other ground equipment to which typical electric vehicles can be more easily modified.



Figure 1 Pushback tractor or "Super tug" at Newark Liberty International Airport

Inter-terminal buses were also selected for this study. Electric buses are already a reality in many airport operations. Additionally, buses are present in a few studies about wireless charging techniques. Combining these two technologies in an airport environment can be extremely beneficial and easier to implement, compared to other GSE. Quantifying the costs and environmental impact of substituting conventional buses for electric buses is a crucial part of the decision-making process, and it is presented in this work.



Figure 2 Inter-terminal buses in Dulles Airport, VA

1.3. Objective and Scope

This study aims to analyze the economic feasibility and environmental impacts of charging infrastructure for an electric ground fleet in airports. Life-Cycle Cost Analysis (LCCA) was conducted for implementing two types of electric ground fleet in airports: pushback tractors and inter-terminal buses. Three electric charging infrastructures were considered in the analysis in comparison to the conventional fossil fuel system. The initial investment, as well as operation and maintenance costs over the analysis period were analyzed and compared for fossil fueled station, and three electric charging infrastructures. The analysis results can be used for better decision making in terms of implementing electric vehicles in an airport environment.

The study also performed a Life-Cycle Analysis (LCA) to analyze the environmental impacts. The fleets and scenarios studied were the same used for the LCCA. The life cycle inventory was compiled for energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions, respectively, to assess the lifecycle Cumulative Energy Demand (CED) and Global Warming (GW) potential. The analysis results can assist in the decision-making in terms of implementing electric vehicles in an airport environment.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

2.1 Traditional Charging Infrastructure for Electric Vehicles

2.1.1 Battery Swapping Station

In a battery swapping facility, electric vehicle drivers can swap the depleted batteries for a fully charged one (Tan et al., 2019). This process is very short, around five minutes, and is much faster than charging the vehicle in a charging station (Laurischkat, 2016). Some challenges of this technology are battery standardization (Hou et al., 2016 and Yang et al., 2014) and customer acceptance. This last one occurs due to customers being apprehensive of swapping a battery in good condition for one that is depreciated. A solution for this problem is to have the batteries owned by the battery swapping station (BSS) leased to the driver. This solution can also increase the market penetration of EVs by decreasing the cost of the vehicle (Tan, 2018). Another challenge that needs to be overcome is to select an optimized location for the battery swapping station to be cost-efficient and profitable.

EV owners will benefit from reduced vehicle price; and fast charging and do not need to upgrade household infrastructure for charging (Mahoor et al., 2019). BSS owners can increase profits by charging the empty batteries in energy low cost hours and having a partnership with the power utility, which can use the BSS as a large and flexible resource to reduce network congestion and peak load (Mahoor et al., 2019). The joint venture with SunMobility and SmartE performed field trials of battery swap stations for electric two- and three-wheelers in Delhi, India (SunMobility, online). SunMobility developed a modular battery that is easily removable from the vehicle replaced with a fully charged battery at the BSS. According to Mahoor et al. (2019), the battery capital cost is \$200/kWh, and the daily operational cost varies between \$45.56 and \$166.11.

2.1.2 Stationary Charging Station

There are three types of Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment: Level 1 is home-based 120V AC, it charges in 10 to 20 hours, and the cost goes from \$300 to \$1000. Level 2 is a 240V AC charger, and it can be commercial or home-based. The time to charge is between 4 to 8 hours, and the cost is between \$2000 and \$4800. Level 3 is considered a "fast charging station", which charges in 20 minutes for 170 miles and 75 minutes for 330 miles. Its cost varies from \$14,000 to \$51,000 (He et al., 2019; Bansal, 2015).

A stationary charging station can also provide energy through wireless techniques, in that case, the vehicle stops over a wireless charging pad that will charge the battery by inductive power transfer. The charging time depends on the power and the efficiency of the system; the last has on its parameters the electric design and air gap. The efficiency increases when the design includes a capacitor on each coil or includes parallel or series circuit designs that cause equal resonance on both windings. The air gap can also be decreased to increase efficiency by placing the transmitter pad above the pavement.

Plug-in charging is an already well-known technology. In the U.S. there are more than 21,000 charging stations in which around 2,200 are DC fast charging stations (Fueleconomy.gov, online). A few companies are developing technologies for wireless charging stations. For example, WiTricity uses coupled resonators, which are coils with impedance matching network in which the source produces a magnetic field that induces an electric current on the receiver. The efficiency is between 90% and 93%, charging ranges from 3.6 to 11 kW, and this technology allows a little misalignment (WiTricity, online).

2.2 In-Motion Charging on eRoads

2.2.1 The principle of eRoads

The fundamental principal of an Electric Road is that electric vehicles can use energy directly from the power grid and do not need to rely on a storage medium such as a battery (Connolly, 2017). When the energy source is decarbonized, eRoads are also a solution for mitigating CO2 emission. An electric road can be wired using conductive technology or wireless, and the most used technology, among the wireless charging pilot projects in the world, is inductive power transfer.

The charging elements of in-motion charging are installed in the road and charge the vehicle battery while driving, avoiding parking and waiting. Besides convenience, in-motion charging also addresses concerns like driving range (Panchal et al., 2018) and safety because costumers do not need to handle cables. In-motion charging can be conductive or wireless. Conductive charging can be overhead, from the side or underneath, which is usually used for buses and trucks due to the high wire placement (Connolly, 2017).

For the successful implementation and use of charge-while-driving technologies, three important factors are cited: (i) acceptable charging solutions, (ii) successful integration into the practical road infrastructure, and (iii) good functionality and cost-effective maintenance management over the lifetime (Cheng et al., 2015).

Besides theoretical research, tests and prototypes are being studied as well. In 2018, an inmotion conductive charging road, or electric road, was inaugurated in Sweden. It consists of a 2km embedded track with a rail located underneath vehicles (eRoadArlanda, online).

2.2.2 Conductive Charging in an eRoad

The conductive technique to charge EVs requires a physical connection between the vehicle and the eRoad. This technique is very similar to known developments such as electric trains, trams, and trolleybuses (Connolly, 2017, and Viktoria Swedish ICT on behalf of Volvo GTT and Scania CV, 2014). The physical connection can occur from underneath the vehicle, from the side, or even from above.

The overhead conductive method consists of two supply lines placed above the road and a vehicle equipped with a connection device capable of compensating vertical and horizontal movements (Domingues-Olavarria et al., 2018). Road Bound Conductive is the method used when the vehicle contains a conductor arm equipped with a magnetic contact. When the vehicle is situated above the power conductor in the road, the electric field would charge the battery (Asplund and Rehman, 2014). Road Side Conductive has the power conductors placed on the side of the road, allowing trucks, buses, and passenger cars to use this technology. Another benefit of this method is that the road is untouched, which provides lower maintenance and installation complexity (Domingues-Olavarria et al., 2018).

Weather conditions can influence the operation of conductive charging road. In the case of snow, the cars will keep the snow out of the rail when the traffic density is high; however, in low-density traffic or high-volume snowstorm, plowing will have to be performed for the eRoad to function properly. A special device needs to be used to plow not only the road but also inside the rail. Another important eRoad device for cold regions is electrical heating to avoid ice in the rail, which will block the conductor from the contact (Asplund and Rehman, 2014).

2.2.3 Wireless Charging in an eRoad

In-motion wireless charging charges EV's battery while it is in transit with no physical contact (Jang, 2018). The three main requirements for an effective wireless power transfer (WPT) technology are high power, high efficiency, and large air gap (El-Shahat et al., 2019), to ensure the minimal distance between the road and bottom of the vehicle. These three main requirements are also the biggest challenges of this charging method. The eRoad for wireless charging (Jang, 2018) consists of a transmitter embedded in the pavement and a receiver onboard of the vehicle that captures the transmitted energy. This method is a promising solution due to increased driving range, decreased battery size, and improved convenience (Sun et al., 2018).

Wireless charging is not affected by harsh water conditions since no plug is required (Kalwar et al., 2018). Plug-in charging has losses from 20% to 30% due to wires (Das et al., 2018), which does not occur in wireless techniques. However, wireless charging has a much higher installation cost for infrastructure and safety/shielding requirements.

2.2.4 Comparison between different charging methods for eRoad

Implementing wireless charging for EVs while driving has many challenges, such as large upfront capital costs, relatively immature technology. It requires a high level of communication and collaboration between stakeholders, complex operations and maintenance, and the use of clean electricity (Gill et al., 2014; and Bateman et al., 2018). Rescue teams also need different training to operate in electric roads due to the risk of car accidents when there is human or animal presence under the car or bus. Another risk factor is the electromagnetic field exposure, which will have to be under limited range as prescribed by safety regulatory authorities (Kalwar et al., 2015).

Conductive charging is a more mature technology. It provides higher levels of power and

does not impact the pavement when placed overhead or on the roadside. However, when placed overhead, there is a high visual impact; it could affect emergency response with a helicopter, and it is only suitable for bus and heavy-duty vehicles (Panchal et al., 2018). When the conductive charging is underneath as a rail, the drawbacks are road user safety once the conductor is accessible. It is also susceptible to wear and corrosion due to its exposure to the environment. Wireless charging is safer for road users since it is embedded in the pavement, making this technology less vulnerable to damage and vandalism. The conductive technology is known and has been used for years in other transportation modes: trains, trams, and trolleybuses. Therefore, it is more mature than wireless charging. The project called eRoadArlanda, part of the Swedish Transport Administration's precommercial procurement of innovation, is based on conductive technology that uses an electric rail installed in roads to power driving vehicles. It estimates that electrifying 20,000 kilometers of roads in Sweden would cost about SEK 80 billion, approximately USD 800 million (eRoadArlanda, online) USD 40,000 per kilometer in a large-scale project.

Stationary charging stations have a few drawbacks. The plug-in charging station must have an interrupting device that shuts off the electric supply when there is a risk of shock. Incontrast, the wireless charging method can detect the presence of ferrous or magnetic material near it and stop the charging to prevent fires or short-circuit hazard (Bansal, 2015). Both plug-in and stationary wireless stations can be very inconvenient due to the time of charging, which does not occur for the in-motion charging method. Another big inconvenience is high demand in a charging station, forming a line that leads to longer waiting time. When using charging stations as the main source of energy, the only option to increase vehicle mileage is to increase onboard battery's size. This solution will increase the price and weight of the battery, charging time. Table 1 summarizes the characteristics of stationary and in-motion charging technologies, while Table 2 points out their advantages and disadvantages.

	Charging Technology	Charging Efficiency	Power	Air Gap	Charging Time	Technology Readiness Level (TRL)
Stationary Station	Swapping Station (Manhoor et al., 2019 and Khan et al., 2019)	~100%	36 kW - 240 kW *DC fast charging	0 cm	8 min	9
	Wireless – ICPT (Bansal, 2015, Machura and Li, 2019, Panchal et al., 2018)	> 90%	3.3 kW - 25 kW	10 - 30 cm	6.5 - 3 h	7
	Plug-In DC Fast Station (Bansal, 2015, Khan et al., 2019, Channegowda et al., 2015)	93%	36 kW - 240 kW	0 cm	10 - 15 min	9
In-Motion	Overhead Conductive (Panchal et al., 2018)	90%	100 - 240 kW	0 cm	Heavy Vehicle: 1.2 - 2.8h Passenger Car: 0.1 - 0.3 h *calculated	7
	Road Bound Conductive (Viktoria Swedish ICT, 2013)	90%	2 - 10 MW/km 0 cm		Heavy Vehicle: 1.7 – 8.3 min Passenger Car: < 1 min *calculated	8
	Roadside Conductive (Domingues-Olavarria et al., 2018, and Suul and Guidi, 2018)	N/A	180 kW	0 cm Heavy Vehicle: 1.4 Passenger Car: 8 mi *calculated		6
	Wireless – ICPT (Panchal et al., 2018, and Vaka and Keshri, 2017)	71% - 96%	1 kW - 100 kW	7.5 - 50 cm	Passenger Car: 15 min *calculated for 100kW with 96% efficiency	9

Table 1 Characteristics of different charging technologies for eRoad

*calculated values assumed a heavy vehicle with an energy storage capacity of 250 kW and a passenger car with 24 kWh

	Charging Technology	Advantages	Disadvantages
Stationary Station	Swapping Station	Possibility of partnership with utility company (can be used to optimize the power grid), decrease vehicle price (batteries would be owned by the SS), fast and convenient charging	Battery standardization, operation complexity (battery fully charged for demand pick and battery logistics between SS)
	Wireless - ICPT	Safer perception and convenience for consumer (no need for wire manipulation)	Not easily accessible for maintenance. New technology. Electromagnetic field exposure.
	Plug-In DC Fast Station	Components easily accessible for maintenance, mature technology	Safety hazard due wire manipulation specially during rain and snow, susceptible to damage and vandalism
In-Motion	Overhead Conductive	Increase drive range, decrease battery size and range anxiety, mature technology, no pavement impact, easy components access for maintenance	Visual impact, only suitable for trucks and buses, could impede helicopter emergency rescue, susceptible to damage and vandalism
	Road Bound Conductive	Increase drive range, decrease battery size and range anxiety, mature technology, easy components access for maintenance	Impact on the pavement, safety hazard (accessible open conductor), susceptible to damage and vandalism
	Road Side Conductive	Increase drive range, decrease battery size and range anxiety, mature technology, no pavement impact, easy components access for maintenance, suitable for passenger vehicles and heavy-duty vehicles.	Visual impact, safety hazard (accessible open conductor), susceptible to damage and vandalism
	Wireless - ICPT	Increase drive range, decrease battery size and range anxiety, no visual impacts	Impact on the pavement, not easily accessible for maintenance, produces electromagnetic field

Table 2 Advantages and disadvantages of different charging technologies for eRoad

2.3 Advancements in Wireless Charging Techniques

Several wireless charging techniques were studied in the past century. Nikola Tesla accomplished the first power transferring in 1904 using radio waves at 150 kHz. Sixty years later, Brown invented a laser where power can be transferred by converting electrical current into a laser beam (Ahmad

et al., 2018). Nowadays, the demand for wireless charging as a more convenient and reliable battery recharger gets even higher as the EV market grows (Qiu et al., 2013). The main goal of wireless power transfer is to substitute the conductive charging method and eliminate inconvenience and hazards while maintaining the comparable power level efficiency (Qiu et al., 2013).

2.3.1 Microwave Power Transfer

Microwave Power Transfer consists of the microwave launcher and microwave receiver. This method consists of a microwave launcher connected to the grid and a receiver installed in any low voltage products. Using this technology is possible to transfer power and information by using waves with wavelength range that falls into microwaves category. A DC converted from the grid feeds the microwave generator. The current that passes in the resonating cavities in the microwave generator produces the microwave electromagnetic radiation. When the antenna receives the microwave energy, it converts it back to DC, charging the product (Kalwar et al., 2015). In a study carried out by Shinohara and Nissan Motors, a road-to-vehicle wireless power transfer system at 2.45 GHz was developed. It used slot antennas and magnetron to reduce the cost and a microwave to charge the battery at 76% efficiency. This efficiency is appropriate to charge EVs wirelessly using the microwave (Ahmad et al., 2018). According to Qiu et al. (2013), Microwave Power Transfer has high power, high range, and high efficiency. However, it needs a direct line-of-sight transmission path, large antennas, and complex tracking mechanisms. Kalwar et al. (2015) pointed out that the disadvantage of this technology is the high cost and antenna size, which can be overcome using a waveguide that provides a path for microwaves and does not allow the microwaves' diffusion.

2.3.2 Capacitive Wireless Power Transfer

Capacitive Wireless Power Transfer (CWPT) uses coupling capacitors to transfer power from the source to the receiver instead of coils and magnets. The transmitter and receiver are realized by metal plates where two plates are used at the primary side as a power transmitter, and two plates at the secondary side act as a power receiver (Electreon, online). This technology operates for both high voltage and low current. Additional inductors are added in series with the coupling capacitors to reduce the impedance between transmitter and receiver sides at the resonant arrangement. CWPT has a low cost and is a simple technology compared to other technologies. However, it is useful for low-power applications, such as portable electronic devices, cellular phone chargers, and rotating machines (Chen et al., 2017). The application of CWPT for EVs has been limited due to large air gaps and high-power level requirements (Panchal et al., 2018). According to Qiu et al. (2013) this technology has high efficiency; however, it does not apply to EV charging because it has low power.

2.3.3 Magnetic Gear Wireless Power Transfer

This technology consists of two synchronized permanent magnets positioned side-by-side differently from other wireless charging methods based on coaxial cable. The main power current source is applied to the transmitter winding to produce a mechanical torque on the primary permanent magnet. The mechanical torque causes the permanent magnet to rotate and induce a torque on the second permanent magnet. In this system, the primary permanent magnet works as a generator, and the secondary receives the energy that will charge the battery through a power converter and battery magnetic system (Panchal et al., 2018). According to Qiu et al. (2013), the magnetic gear wireless power transfer has high power, medium-range, and high efficiency leading to a capable technology for EV charging. Another positive fact is that this technology is relatively forgiving of misalignments (Li, 2009). However, the power transfer capability is inversely

proportional to the axis-to-axis separation between the primary and secondary permanent magnets as the coupling between the two synchronized windings reduces abruptly, making this method very challenging for dynamic charging (Panchal et al., 2018).

2.3.4 Inductive Power Transfer

The concept of this technology is to transfer power from the primary coil to the secondary coil installed in the car without any wire (Ahmad et al., 2018). It consists of transferring power from one conductive circuit to another using alternating magnetic fields (Requia et al., 2018). The aircore transformer with primary and secondary coils is separated through a small space and transfers power through electromagnetic induction phenomena (Cheng, 2016). This phenomenon is based on Lenz's law and Faraday's law. A time-variant current in a conductor creates the magnetic field around the conductor, and a secondary loop (receiver) gets voltage generated due to time-variant magnetic flux (Ahmad et al., 2018). IPT is already a technology used to charge EV; it has high power transfer when the air gap is small. However, this performance can decrease drastically when the space between the primary and secondary coils increases due to leakage inductance (Kalwar et al., 2015). This method has high power, high efficiency, but a low range (Qiu et al., 2013). Despite being a used technology for EV charging in this low range due to the air gap, is a restraint in several applications. This method is not recommended for dynamic charging; however, it is a great solution for static charging once it eliminates the contact metal to metal of a traditional plug-in charger. Its frequency ranges from 15 to 100 kHz (Kalwar et al., 2015).

2.3.5 Inductive Coupled Power Transfer

Inductive Coupled Power Transfer is very similar to Inductive Power Transfer. However, it employs capacitors connected to both the primary and secondary coils to compensate for the leakage flux

due to the increased air gap. Both transmitter and receiver windings consist of electric circuits composed of an inductor and a capacitor connected working on resonance phenomena to enable effective energy transfer at resonant frequency (Kalwar et al., 2015). The value of the coupling coefficient between coils depends on both axis orientations of each coil, the distance between them and magnetic permeability of the mean (García-Vázquez et al., 2017). This technology had been used on stationary charging and dynamic charging. In the second case, the primary coil is embedded in the pavement at spaced locations allowing the vehicle to be charged at several spaced locations across the roadbed. This technology is the most promissory for dynamic charging because it has high power, medium-range, high efficiency (Qiu et al., 2013), and frequency between 20 and 200 kHz. Even though it has a great initial cost to prepare the infrastructure, it also has a big potential to elude this cost by decreasing the electric vehicle battery size (Kalwar et al., 2015).

2.3.6 Resonant Inductive Power Transfer

The Resonant Inductive Power Transfer is another technology that uses inductivity and has power electronics and wireless transformer coils. In the same way as other inductive power transfers, the AC voltage is converted into the AC source and supplied to the primary coil. Following that, the secondary coil receives power via a varying magnetic field, and this power is converted to DC to charge the battery from EV. Different from traditional IPT, to improve efficiency, this technology has additional compensation networks in the series and/or parallel configurations are added to both the primary and secondary coils are matched together, efficient power transfer is possible (Panchal et al., 2018). Besides boosting the power transfer capability, employing resonant circuits in the primary and secondary coils minimizes the voltage and current ratings of the source power supply (Kar et al., 2018).

2.3.7 Potential of wireless charging technologies for eRoad

Wireless charging technologies differ in technical characteristics; however, they all provide an increase in drive range and decrease in battery size compared to stationary technologies, in addition to a decrease in driver's range anxiety, and it does not cause visual impacts on the highway. On the other hand, wireless charging is a new technology, that was not vastly tested and explored. In addition, it has a great impact in the pavement; it is not easily accessible for maintenance and produces electromagnetic field.

Table 3 summaries the efficiency, power, cost, technology maturity level, applicability for EV Charging, of different wireless charging technologies. Technology Readiness Level is based on the NASA criteria (Mankins, 1995), from level 1 as being more preliminary studies until level 9. Level 1 is defined as basic principles observed and reported, while level 9 is assigned when the studied product has proven to be successfully operated in a real-life scenario. Level 4 is attributed to prototypes validated in the laboratory, and for level 5 the validated happened in a relevant environment. The comparison results indicate that the most successful solution in wireless charging of EV is the Inductive Coupled Power Transfer (Kalwar et al., 2018). This technology achieves high efficiency and high power with an air gap suitable for electric vehicle dynamic charging.

Charging Technology	Charging Efficiency	Power	Air Gap	Charging Time	Technology Readiness Level (TRL)	Applicable for EV Charging
Microwave (Qiu et al., 2013, and Shinohara et al., 2013)	76%	1.4 kW	10 cm	Passenger Car: 22.6 h *calculated	4	Yes
Capacitive (Panchal et al., 2018, Vaka and Keshri, 2017, and Lu et al., 2017)	83% - 90%	3 kW	15 - 30 cm	Passenger Car: 8.9 h *calculated for 90% efficiency	4	No
Magnetic Gear (Li, 2009)	81%	1.6 kW	15 cm	Passenger Car: 18.5 h *calculated	6	No
Inductive Coupled (Panchal et al., 2019, Vaka and Keshri, 2017, Oak Ridge - ieee, 2018)	71% - 97%	1 kW - 120 kW	7.5 - 50 cm	Passenger Car: 15 min *calculated for 100 kW power and 97% efficiency	9	Yes
Resonant Inductive (Panchal et al., 2018)	90%	N/A	15 - 30 cm	N/A	4	Yes

Table 3 Comparisons of Characteristics of Wireless Charging Technologies

*calculated values assumed passenger car with energy storage capacity of 24 kWh

2.4 Design and Construction of eRoad using ICPT

2.4.1 ICPT Design

The most studied wireless technology is ICPT due to its cost efficiency and high-power transfer efficiency on the eRoad. This technology consists of onboard and off-board components, as shown in Figure 3 (a). Onboard components are installed in the car and are made of pick-up coil and the current transformer. Off-board is divided into three parts: power supply, converter, and transmitter (primary coil).

An ICPT Wireless Transformer is compounded by coil, shielding material (ferrite and aluminum plate), and protective and supportive layers, as shown in Figure 3(b) (Panchal et al.,

2018). The ferrite core, where the cables lay, can have different shapes impacting the magnetic coupling factor. A high permeability ferrite core enhances the coupling coefficient by providing a low reluctance path for magnetic flux (Mohammad et al., 2018). Some common types are U-core, E-core, H-core, I-core, and S-core. The first OLEV generation had an E-core. To increase the efficiency of the system, an I-core was used for the fourth generation (Choi et al., 2015) and an S-type core for the fifth generation (Suul and Guidi, 2018).

One important parameter of ICPT design is the coil shape. Squared and rectangular coils are suitable for arrangement in an array due to aligned sides. However, inductance is increased for these shapes because the sharp corner edges generate an eddy current and increase impedance and hot spot. For that reason, these coil shapes are not good options for high-power applications. Hexagonal coils have the maximum power transfer efficiency at the central position of the primary and secondary coils, but power reduces significantly at the edge of the coil (Panchal et al., 2018). Mecke and Rathge (2004) investigated different coil shapes; the circular shape presented good coupling, however, the power decreased significantly with misalignment. In an attempt to solve the issue, oval shaped-coil was presented, and although it allowed more misalignment, it showed not to be suitable for high power applications such as electric vehicle charging, once it did not transfer high power as efficient as the circular-shaped coil.



Figure 3 Illustration of eRoad structure using inductive coupled power transfer: (a) system design; and (b) layout of charging unit

The ICPT system can be installed in segments or as a single-long-coil track. A single-long-coil track can be inefficient in low traffic roads. The whole track is activated, causing a lot of lost energy since the receiver only occupies a small part of the track (Sun et al., 2018). In a segmented design, the length of the segment and the distance between the coils can vary. As a result, there is great flexibility in how the ICPT system can be installed. For every segment of coils installed adjacent to each other, an inverter should also be installed as well to guarantee the appropriate high-frequency AC current supply. The smaller the segments, the greater the number of segments and inverters, which can increase the cost of the system significantly. To avoid the higher cost, the longer segments are preferable (Stamati and Bauer, 2013).

Yilmaz et al. (2012) analyzed both long wire loop and segmented loops. The second one he divided into two: sectioned wired loop – length of the loop is about the size of the vehicle and gaps between loops are smaller (0.2m); and spaced loop – the loop (0.5 m) is much smaller than the car,

and the gaps are larger (1 m). He computed the magnetic properties, mutual, and leakage inductance in a 3D finite element analysis. The result is that the smaller loop sizes can reduce the supply voltage requirements and the magnetization reactive power.

The authors (Yalmaz et al., 2012) also conclude that the system's geometry impacts the efficiency due to the coupling coefficient. The efficiency of a magnetic resonance wireless power transfer is given as follows [1], where *n* is efficiency, Z_l is the load impedance, R_p and R_s are the resistance of primary and secondary coils respectively, L_p and L_s are the self-inductance, w_0 is the resonance frequency, k is the coupling factor, and μ_0 is the effective permeability with core. It depends on the core material and geometry. The system's efficiency is quadratic in k, the coupling factor, showing the high impact of this factor in the efficiency.

$$n = \frac{Z_l}{(R_s + Z_l)(1 + \frac{R_p(R_s + Z_l)}{\left(\frac{W_0}{W_0}\right)^2 k^2 L_p L_s})}$$
[1]

To determine the length of an eRoad section, there are two important parameters: transmitted power and speed limit. The energy transmitted to the EV from the e-Road is the product of the power generated through the ICPT system and the time the vehicle is exposed to the primary coils. The exposer time is determined by the vehicular speed and the length of the e-Road section (Stamati and Bauer, 2013). Knowing the power of the ICPT system, the next step is to define the energy transfer goal of the system, determine the speed limit following the state legislature, and calculate the needed length. To maintain a constant speed in a highway, it is estimated that the required power transfer from an eRoad with a wireless system is between 20kW to 40kW for passenger vehicles, and between 100kW and 180kW for trucks and buses (Highways England, 2015). The estimation was calculated using a high-level model with sensitive analysis considering traffic density by the time of day. For passenger cars, the used car model was a Nissan Leaf, and the wheel to grid efficiency was assumed to be 73%. To maintain 50 mph speed, the vehicle requires 12 kW from the grid, while for 70 mph, the value almost double. For a Scania R-series truck at a 55-mph speed, the grid's power demand is 175 kW.

2.4.2 Construction of eRoad

The eRoads are designed to provide energy power to charge EVs dynamically; however, they also need to perform as a traditional road ensuring structural capacity and surface function for conventional and electric vehicles. There are two main construction technique categories for embedding a wireless charging system in the pavement: (1) Prefabrication-based construction method, which has a short period of in-situ implementation because the concrete slab with charging unit can be prefabricated in the factory; (2) In-situ construction method, in which all construction and installation are made on the site, from excavation to placement of charging module (Cheng, 2016).

The precast construction method is preferred for eRoad with concrete pavement due to the advantage of the accelerated construction period and factory quality (Nguyen et al. 2014; Dinh et al. 2014). The precast concrete slab has been used as pavement rehabilitation technology by many highway agencies (Bush, 2017; and Bull and Woodford, 1997). The critical issues that affect the performance of the precast slab are the site preparation, installation method, and load transfer through dowel connection (Tayabji et al., 2012). In-situ construction can be trench based or full lane construction with respect to the existing pavement. The trench method may only be applicable for asphalt pavement, while full-lane reconstruction can be used for concrete pavement. Structural integrity is the most concern when the trench method is used for construction. Table 4 summaries advantages and disadvantages of different construction methods of eRoad about construction method (Highways England, 2015).

	Construction Method	Process	Advantages	Disadvantages
In-Situ	Trench	Create a trench in the existing pavement to install charging unit, and backfill and lay asphalt surfacing layer	Quickest and cheapest option	Reflective cracking at pavement surface at transverse joints of charging units
	Full-lane Reconstruction	Remove the full depth of pavement layers, install the charging unit with concrete slab	Alignment of charging unit with concrete slab	More time consuming and expensive construction compared to the trench method
Prefabricated	Full-lane Prefabricated Construction	Replace the pavement with a full lane width prefabricated concrete slab containing charging unit	Accelerated construction period, factory construction quality (which reduces future maintenance)	Likely to be the highest capital cost option

 Table 4 Advantages and Disadvantages of Construction Methods of eRoad
Chapter 3 Life Cycle Cost Analysis of Wireless Charging Techniques

3.1 LCCA Principle

LCCA evaluates the economic performance of charging infrastructure over its life by analyzing the initial investment cost as well as the long-term expenses of operation and maintenance. Additionally, the analysis adjusts for the discount rate to equalize all cost-bases by bringing costs to their present values. LCCA is an efficient decision-making tool to help compare infrastructure design options, analyze tradeoffs between low initial investment and long-term savings, identify the most cost-effective system, and determine system "payback" time. Figure 4 schemes the process flow of LCCA.



Figure 4 Flowchart of LCCA

The analysis period and discount rate are the two most important factors affecting the lifecycle cost. The analysis period should be selected to review the longest-lived subsystem. This study selected a 30-year analysis. The discount rate used in this study accounts for fluctuations in both investment interest rates and inflation rate. In this study, the updated real discount rate used is 0.4%, based on a 30-year average from 2021 of OMB released data. The discount rate used to convert values to present value is 0.4%. Equation 1 is used to calculate the present value.

$$PV = \frac{Cost}{(1+r)^N} \tag{1}$$

Where PV is the present value, r is the discount rate, and N is the number of years in the future in which the cost is invested.

The LCCA was used in this study to provide comprehensive cost comparisons between the four types of systems: conventional diesel fueled, plug-in electric charged, stationary wireless electric charged, and dynamic wireless electric charged. Two case studies were conducted, one for electrified pushback tractors and the other for inter-terminal buses used in the ground options of airports. This study assumes to charge electric vehicles plug-in charging and ICPT system for stationary and dynamic wireless charging. Compared to other technologies, ICPT has high power transfer efficiency and performs with a medium air gap, large enough to accommodate the distance pavement surface and vehicle.

3.2 Case Study for Pushback Tractors

3.2.1 Analysis Assumptions

The first case study is conducted for the pushback tractor, one of the ground support equipment at airports. Pushback tractors are vehicles used to push aircraft from gate to taxiway, other gates, or maintenance shed. These machines are critical, operating 24/7 and seeing fleet usage of close or equal to 100%. Substituting the conventional diesel fueled equipment with electric versions can increase or decrease the fleet efficiency, depending on the charging method.

The airport characteristics used in this study were estimated based on Newark Liberty International Airport. The airport has three terminals and three runways and handles about 1,000 flights per day. Furthermore, it is assumed that the airport operates with 50 pushbacks, a combustion motor vehicle with 120 liters' diesel fuel capacity. Each vehicle travels 40 miles per day on average, with a fuel efficiency of 1.5 L/km (0.4 gallons/mile). These values were obtained from a technical visit to Newark Liberty International Airport, which included interviewing aeronautical operations managers, the ground fleet maintenance manager, and the ground fleet move team leader.

For electric pushbacks, the assumed power capacity is two batteries of 180 kWh each. The electricity consumption for all-electric pushbacks is assumed to require the same amount of energy to operate, regardless of the power source. The motor combustion efficiency is estimated to be 21%, and the battery efficiency to be 90%. According to the U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA), 1 kWh contains 3,412 Btu, and one gallon of diesel contains 137,381 Btu. The equipment energy consumption is 11.54 Btu/mile, in which electric consumption represents 3.76 kWh/mile. The total energy required for pushback to operate a full day is 150.4 kWh for electric vehicles and 60 liters of diesel for internal combustion engine vehicles. The time required for refueling and recharge using different methods is calculated below.

Scenario 1: Conventional Diesel Fuel

Each pushback is refueled every 48 hours at a fuel farm in the airport apron. Refueling takes 6 minutes on average. These include 1.5 minutes to park and connect the diesel pump, 3 minutes to fuel (rate of 40 liters/minute), and 1.5 minutes to disconnect and restart the pushback.

Scenario 2: Plug-in Charging

Each pushback is recharged in a 500-kW charging system for 39 minutes every 48 hours. These include 36 minutes to charge 300.8 kWh batteries, 1.5 minutes to park and connect, and 1.5 minutes

to disconnect and start the vehicle. Although the two-180kWh battery has 360kWh capacity, in order to operate 48 hours, the pushback requires 300.8 kWh power. Pushbacks are used 24/7, and to avoid any risk of waiting to charge, this study assumed one plug-in charger per vehicle.

Scenario 3: Stationary Wireless Charging

Each pushback is recharged in a 120-kW charging system with 97% efficiency for 2.6 hours. These mainly include charging time except one minute to park and start the vehicle. Because pushbacks are highly required in operation, like the plug-in charger, one stationary wireless charging pad per vehicle was assumed.

Scenario 4: Dynamic Wireless Charging

To recharge the 150.4 kWh consumed per day, the pushback needs to move on a wireless charging segment for 1.29 hours that provides 120 kWh power with 97% efficiency. It was assumed that each of the three terminals has two dynamic wireless charging segment (one in each direction) of 0.32 miles, summing a total of 6 segments. Figure 5 shows a schematic illustration of this internal road. The pushback operation does not have a fixed routine, however, when not attached to an airplane, the vehicle follows the internal pre-fixed routes. In this scenario, each pushback serves 20 flights per day, moves aircraft between gates, and assists non-flying aircraft in the maintenance operation. The study assumes that each push back comes and goes from its base 30 times a day, covering all flights and services.



Figure 5 Schematic Illustration of Airport Layout and Pushback Route

The minimum service level must be met regardless of the charging/fueling method. Considering an initial scenario wherein 50 vehicles serve 1,000 flights a day, each vehicle serves 20 flights/day. It is worth noting that each vehicle may not necessarily push 20 aircraft per day. Pushbacks are used to move the aircraft from the gate to taxiway, to other gates, or to travel for maintenance. The number of aircrafts pushed per vehicle varies and depends on other factors in the field. For fleet efficiency calculation, it was assumed that the same daily number of flights was served by each pushback. This assumption represents average service level across vehicles as a good approximation for airport-level analysis. Considering the differences in fueling/charging time, the required pushback fleet size varies to reach the same service level. Table 5 summarizes the comparison of fleet size and service level using different fueling/charging methods.

Item	Conventional	Plug-in	Stationary Wireless	Dynamic Wireless
Fueling/Charging Time	6 minutes	39 minutes	156 minutes	N/A
Fueling/Charging Frequency	Every 48 hours	Every 48 hours	Every 48 hours	Charging while operates
Monthly Fueling/ Charging Time	90 minutes	585 minutes	2,340 minutes	N/A

Table 5 Fleet size and service level using different fueling/charging methods

Monthly Served	600/vehicle	593/vehicle	568/vehicle	601/vehicle
Flights	30,000/fleet	29,650/fleet	28,400/fleet	30,050/fleet
% Served Aircraft	100%	98.9%	94.7%	100.2%
Number of vehicles added	0	1	3	0
New - Served Aircraft	600/vehicle	593/vehicle	568/vehicle	601/vehicle
monthly	30,000/fleet	30,243/fleet	30,104/fleet	30,050/fleet
New - % Served Aircraft	100%	100.8%	100.3%	100.2%

As opposed to the plug-in charging and stationary wireless charging methods, dynamic wireless charging has the benefit of charging while operating. Charging while driving increases the productivity of the fleet and allows multiple vehicles to charge simultaneously. This method also reduces the marginal cost of adding a pushback to the fleet, since fleet size can be increased without purchasing more chargers or building more charging segments.

3.2.2 Cost Components

The general cost components used for LCCA are summarized in Table 6, including battery, electricity, diesel costs. The battery cost used in the analysis is \$156/kWh; however, this value tends to decrease with time, increasing the feasibility of electric vehicles. Another important factor is the price of diesel, \$2.659/gallon. Although this value is up to date, it is low compared to historical prices. If the price increases, the operational cost of fossil-fuel vehicles would also increase, thereby increasing the feasibility and attractiveness of electric options.

Item	Value	Unit	References
Battery cost	156	\$/kWh	(BNEF, 2019)
Energy cost-electricity	0.0837	\$/kWh	(US EIA, 2020)
Energy cost – diesel	2.659	\$/gallon	(NJ Turnpike Authority, 2020)
Energy efficiency - diesel	0.396	gallon/mile	Survey at EWR
Energy efficiency – electricity	3.76	kWh/mile	Calculated

 Table 6 General cost parameters for LCCA

Table 7 presented procurement costs, annual fuel costs, and maintenance costs of fueling/charging infrastructure. The conventional pushback value was obtained from the survey

made at Newark Liberty International Airport. The price of the electric pushback was calculated using the proportional cost of an electric bus over a conventional (for which are values commercially available). The battery pack procurement and annual fuel cost were calculated assisted by values in Table 6. For all three electric options, besides the infrastructure and vehicle maintenance, it is assumed that the batteries are replaced every ten years. The annual energy consumption calculated based on the required daily energy is 5,840 gallons of diesel for conventional vehicles and 54,896 kWh for electric vehicles.

Item	Conventional (C)	Plug-in (P)	Stationary Wireless (SW)	Dynamic Wireless (DW)	Data Sources
Procurement cost - vehicle	\$850,000	\$1,040,000	\$1,045,000	\$1,045,000	C: Survey; P, SW, DW: Calculated
Procurement cost - battery pack	N/A	\$56,160	\$56,160	\$56,160	Calculated
Procurement cost - charger	N/A	\$9,500/each	\$6,000 each + \$5,000/vehicle	\$377,264/mile + \$5,000/vehicle	P: (Smith and Castellano, 2015) SW, DW: (Bi et al., 2017), (Gill et al., 2014)
Annual Energy Cost	\$17,520	\$4,595	\$4,595	\$4,595	Calculated
Vehicle Maintenance Cost	\$0.726 /mile	\$0.297/mile	\$0.297/mile	\$0.297/mile	C, P, SW, DW: (The U.S. Federal Transit Administration, 2018)
Infrastructure Maintenance Cost	ture N/A $\$1,000 \text{ per}$ $\$1,000 \text{ per year}$ $\$3,773/mi$		\$3,773/mile	P: (Energetics Incorporated, 2017); SW: (Bi et al., 2017) DW: (Gill et al., 2014)	

Table 7 Project cost parameters and intermediate calculated values

3.2.3 Analysis and Results

The results from LCCA are presented in the figures below. Figure 6 shows the initial investment of each fueling/charging method, which includes the procurement of vehicles, battery packs, and construction and installation of charger components. The conventional method has the lowest initial investment since it does not require any construction or procurement besides vehicles

themselves. The highest initial cost is the stationary wireless charging, which requires on-board and off-board charger procurement and installation in addition to vehicle procurement. Furthermore, stationary wireless charging requires three more vehicles than the other electric options in order to maintain the same service-level as the conventional equipment.



Figure 6 Initial Investments of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Pushback

Figure 7 presents the Present Value of each year during the 30-year period. The operational cost of conventional vehicles increases significantly due to diesel cost and propulsion engine maintenance. Infrastructure maintenance costs were considered for the electric systems but not for the conventional fuel station. Even so, the lifetime cumulative cost for the conventional system is still greater than all three electric systems. In year 9 and 19, the electric vehicles have peak operational costs due to battery replacement. Although the depleted batteries could be resold and repurposed, this benefit was not considered in the analysis.



Figure 7 Annual Present Values of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Pushback

The cumulative present value should be the cost with highest impact for decision-making purpose. This value represents the overall cost of the system's lifetime operation. Figure 8 summarizes the cumulative present value, in other words the amount of money invested over the studied period of 30 years. The conventional system is the most expensive option followed by dynamic wireless charging, stationary wireless charging, and lastly plug-in charging. Plug-in charging is the most economic option since it has the lower charger cost compared to the other electric options, additionally to the lower maintenance cost.

Stationary wireless charging system has the second lowest cumulative present value (17% lower than conventional, 9% lower than dynamic wireless charging). This method likewise has higher fleet efficiency. Dynamic wireless charging is the most expensive electric option although having the highest fleet efficiency, which allows increase in fleet size without cost increase in infrastructure. Furthermore, the possibility of electrifying other airport vehicles and equipment that will share the same charging infrastructure makes this an attractive option. Both are innovative methods and thereby create innovation value.



Figure 8 Cumulative Present Values of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Pushback

3.3 Case Study for Inter-terminal Buses

3.3.1 Analysis Assumptions

The second case study was conducted for inter-terminal bus fleet, as shown in Figure 9. It is assumed that in the aforementioned hypothetical airport there is an inter-terminal network system with 16 buses, which provides one bus per minute during peak hours at each terminal. During less busy hours, the buses are refueled for internal combustion engine vehicles, and recharge for plug-in vehicles. Wireless charged electric vehicles are charged during its operation. On average, inter-terminal bus fleets do not operate with full capacity since passenger flights reduce in frequency during specific hours of the day. Each bus is assumed to perform 3 shifts of 6 hours each.



Figure 9 Schematic Illustration of Airport Layout and Inter-terminal Bus Route

It is assumed that each bus takes one minute to drop-off and board passengers, buses rides in an average speed of 20 mph, and it is one-mile-long between terminals. The total operation time for one loop (T1 - T2 - T3 - T2 - T1) lasts 16 minutes, 12 minutes in movement driving between terminals and 1 minute in each terminal for pick-up/drop-off operation. Each bus completes 66 loops per day divided in three 6-hours shift. To initiate a new shift the bus park in Terminal 2 for 8 minutes to switch drivers. In a one-day operation, each bus covers 264 miles, or 425 kilometers.

Scenario 1: Conventional Diesel Fuel

Considering fuel efficiency of 0.32 L/km, each bus consumes 136 liters of diesel per day. Assuming the fuel tank capacity of 450 liters, the bus needs to be refueled every 3 days. Diesel refueling operation is not critical since the fleet only operates at full efficiency during the peak hours of day.

Scenario 2: Plug-in Charging

The power efficiency of electric bus is 1.27 kWh/km (Potkany et al., 2018). The operation requires 540 kWh per day per bus to operate. Assuming using a 500-kW charging system, the bus needs 65 minutes to recharge. Since the fleet only operates 18 hours per day, it would be possible to have

four plug-in chargers for 16 buses in an optimized charging operation. However, this economic analysis assumes the worst-case scenario, in which12 buses are charged at the same time using 16 plug-in chargers.

Scenario 3: Stationary Wireless Charging

The 120-kW charging system has 97% efficiency, which requires 4.6 hours to charge battery for one-day operation. For this charging system it is assumed that the wireless charging pads are installed where the bus stops for passengers boarding and drop-off, in all terminals. Since each bus stays in the stationary wireless charging zone for 4 minute per loop, and 8 minutes before each shift, the system provides 559 kWh per bus per day - higher energy than required. Theoretically, during peak hours there are always 1 bus on Terminal 1 and on Terminal 3, and 2 buses on Terminal 2. For the economic analysis, it is assumed the total of four wireless charging pads installed, one in each terminal except for Terminal 2, where two pads will be installed to guarantee normal operation even during shift changes which is not done during peak hours. The shift changes are assumed to be phased-out so they are not occurring simultaneously either.

Scenario 4: Dynamic Wireless Charging

With the same charging efficiency, the dynamic wireless charging requires the same charging time as the stationary charging system. However, dynamic system provides charging while the bus is inmotion. Considering average speed of 20 mph, the bus needs to ride over 92.8 miles on a wireless charging segment in order to provide the required energy. Since the operation occurs in a closed network, where buses rides 66 loops per day, an electric 1.4-mile segment is enough to provide the needed energy.

Item	Conventional	Plug-in	Stationary Wireless	Dynamic Wireless
Number of Buses	16	16	16	16
Number of Charging/Segment	-	16	4	1.4 miles
length				
Fuel efficiency	0.32 L/km	1.27 kWh/km	1.27 kWh/km	1.27 kWh/km
Total Energy per Day per Bus	136 L	540 kWh	540 kWh	540 kWh
Annual Consumption	794,240 L	3,153,600 kWh	3,153,600 kWh	3,153,600 kWh

Table 8 Bus Fleet Characteristics per System

3.3.2 Cost Components

The calculated costs were based on Table 6, and it is presented on Table 9

 Table 9 Project cost parameters and intermediate calculated values

Item	Conventional (C)	Plug-in (P)	Stationary Wireless (SW)	Dynamic Wireless (DW)	Data Sources
Procurement - vehicle	\$450,000	\$550,000	\$550,000	\$550,000	C: (Aber, 2016) P, SW, DW: (Proterra, 2019)
Procurement – battery pack	-	\$28,080	\$28,080	\$28,080	Calculated
Procurement – charger	-	\$9,500/each	\$6,000/each + \$5,000/vehicle	\$377,264/mile + \$5,000/vehicle	P: (Smith and Castellano, 2015) SW, DW: (Bi et al., 2017), (Gill et al., 2014)
Annual Energy Cost - Vehicle	\$131,993	\$16,497	\$16,497	\$16,497	Calculated
Vehicle Maintenance Cost	\$0.44/mile	\$0.18/mile	\$0.18/mile	\$0.18/mile	C, P, SW, DW: (The U.S. Federal Transit Administration, 2018)
Infrastructure Maintenance Cost	-	\$1,000 every 10 years	\$1,000 per year	\$3,773/mile	P: (Energetics Incorporated, 2017); SW: (Bi et al., 2017) DW: (Gill et al., 2014)

3.3.3 Analysis and Results

The LCCA was performed and the results are presented in the figures bellow. Figure 10 shows the initial investment of each method. The conventional method has the lowest initial investment; similar to the pushback tractor analysis, this occurs because conventional bus does not require any construction or other procurement components besides the vehicle itself. The initial investments for all three electric options have very similar costs with difference smaller than 5%, although their designs vary in the number and type of charger.

The annual cost of conventional vehicle is much higher than electric options, mostly driven by the fuel price. The cost per mile of an electric bus is extremely lower compared to the conventional vehicle, \$0.1105 and \$1.3566/mile, respectively. Due to the high mileage per day travelled by each bus, the fuel cost has great impact on the overall cost. Figure 11 presents the annual cost of different fueling/charging systems for 30 years. On year 9 and 19, there are another investment in all categories due to the procurement of new buses. Differently from pushback that has a lifetime of 30-years, buses usually have a lifetime between 10 to 12 years.



Figure 10 Initial Investments of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Inter-terminal Bus



Figure 11 Annual Present Values of Different Fueling/Charging Systems for Inter-terminal Bus

Figure 12 presents the total investment over 30 years, including initial investment and operation, all calculated to the present value. Due to the high operation cost of conventional fleet, the cumulative value over 30 years is extremely high for conventional vehicle system. The electric options have very similar costs, with difference smaller than 1.5%. This result shows the impact of the operation cost on the cumulative present value, the electric options has almost the same operation price per year, deferring only by the infrastructure maintenance cost.





3.4 Comparison Between Two Case Studies

This work presented two different LCCA analyses for distinguishes vehicles in an airport. The two case studies showed that conventional vehicle has the lowest initial cost but the highest cost in 30-year period, and plug-in charging system has the lowest cumulative cost.

The bus fleet travels a higher mileage than pushback tractors per day, and the cost per mile of conventional bus has great discrepancy compared to electric bus. Great portion of the operation cost is the relationship between travelled mileage and cost per mile. As a result, the cumulative cost of conventional bus fleet compared to the electric options is much higher than the same comparison for pushback tractors. The decision to migrate from conventional bus to electric is extremely clear, however the decision between different charging methods is very sensitive, since they have very similar cumulative costs.

Differently from the bus study, the decision to migrate from conventional pushback to electric is observable but not significant. Although the conventional pushback has greater cost over 30-year period, the difference between conventional and electric pushback is small, which could lead to other factor being considered, such as implementation of new process, investments in training, inconvenience of the implementation, and uncertainties caused by using new technology.

Electric options have very similar long-term investments. Since their economic differences are very small, the best benefit-cost may vary depending on the project. In this scenario, other noneconomic criteria can play an important role in the decision between electric charging options. The plug-in charger for electric buses is a mature technology used worldwide, however the wireless technology can create other benefits not considered in this analysis such as labor optimization, and intangible innovation value for the airport. For pushbacks, wireless charging can also bring intangible labor wellness benefits. It has the advantage of avoiding human-wire interaction, which

43

reduces shock risk especially on harsh weather conditions, since those vehicles are usually maneuvered in open space. In other words, the LCCA used in different situations showed that using electric charging method could be economic beneficial, however, the recommended method could vary when encountered different conditions.

Chapter 4 Life Cycle Assessment Analysis of Charging Techniques

4.1 LCA Methodology

4.1.1 Framework

The life cycle assessment (LCA) framework compiles the inputs and outputs of a product, process, material, or activity in order to evaluate its potential environmental impacts. While normally considered from cradle-to-grave, the LCA can also be applied to cradle-to-gate, gate-to-gate, and gate-to-grave. The approach in this study is a process-based, cradle-to-gate LCA. Furthermore, and in accordance with the ISO 14044:2006 guidelines, this study defines the goal and scope of the LCA and its constituent phases: the life cycle inventory analysis (LCI) phase, the life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) phase, and the life cycle interpretation phase. The subsequent study provides a critical review of the LCA and discusses the relationship between the phases.



Figure 13 Life Cycle Assessment framework

4.1.2 Goal and Scope

This study conducted two separate LCA analyses (one on pushback tractors and one on interterminal buses) by comparing the environmental impacts of diesel-fueled versus electric-powered ground-vehicle fleets at airports. In addition, each LCA considered three charging scenarios for allelectric fleets: plug-in charging, stationary wireless charging, and dynamic wireless charging. The ensuing environmental impact assessment is expressed in the Cumulative Energy Demand (CED), which measures the total primary energy requirements of renewable and non-renewable sources, and the Global Warming (GW) Impact, which measures the warming effect on the Earth's surface from greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.

Each LCA analyzes a hypothetical airport with an average of 1,000 flights per day, 2,000 acres in area, three terminals, and three runways, as presented in the previous chapter. Most assumptions used is based on interviews with the aeronautical operations managers, the ground fleet maintenance manager, and the ground fleet move team leader at Newark Liberty International Airport. The analyses make several further assumptions about the vehicle fleets, including vehicle uniformity within each fleet.

As presented in the LCCA section, this study presumes a pushback fleet size of 50. Each pushback travels 40 miles per day. For the conventional fleet, each vehicle has a 120-liter diesel capacity and a fuel consumption of 1.5 L/km (0.4 gallons/mile). For the electric fleet, the vehicle capacity is 2 batteries of 180 kWh each. The study assumes electric and conventional pushbacks require an equivalent amount of energy (Btu) to operate. Assuming an efficiency of 21% for combustion engines and 90% for batteries, the electric consumption rate is 3.76 kWh/mile.

The bus fleet is assumed to have 16 vehicles, with 600-liter capacity for the combustion engine vehicles and 180-kWh battery capacity for electric vehicles. Each vehicle travels 264 miles (425 km) per day with energy efficiency of 0.32 L/km and 1.27 kWh/km for conventional and electric bus, respectively.

The functional unit is an important element in the LCA, it is used to provide a reference to relate the input and output of the system. This LCA element defines de service that needs to be delivered by the system studied. The functional unit used in this study is GSE service required per flight, which is defined as the lifetime impact (over 30 years) of vehicle manufacturing, charger construction, and vehicle operation divided by the total number of flights over the same period.

4.1.3 System Boundary

Figure 14 illustrates the system boundary, which – in accordance with the process-based, cradle-togate approach – accounts for the burdens (including the material extraction, production, and manufacturing) of chargers, batteries, and fossil fuels in addition to the use-phase energy consumption, however does not include the end-of-life for the fleets. Neither the construction nor the assembly of pushbacks and buses bodies were considered in the project; moreover, the study assumes the impacts of these processes to be equal for electric and conventional vehicles. Likewise, vehicle end-of-life is considered equivalent regardless of power source. Usually used vehicles are sold to smaller carriers (Kerrigan, 2020) but this is not within the scope of this LCA analyses.



Figure 14 LCA System Boundary

4.2 Life-Cycle Inventory

The calculations for energy consumption and GHG emissions are based on various secondary data sources such as academic publications, online databases, and industry reports. There are three systems to consider for each LCA: vehicle equipment, charger construction, and operation. The vehicle chassis and frame serve the same purpose regardless of the energy used and thus are similar enough to be excluded from the comparison assessment. Similarly, the charging infrastructure for stationary wireless charging, plug-in charging and diesel as fuel include the existing pavement, while the dynamic wireless charging requires modifications in the pavement. Pavement maintenance is also excluded from the analysis since this procedure will occur regardless of the charging method. Finally, the study discusses the differences of energy demand and emission between electricity and diesel production in the operation section.

4.2.1 Vehicle Equipment

Each LCA considers one of two vehicle systems: the first is that of an electric vehicle, and the second that of a diesel vehicle with internal combustion engine (ICE). For both systems, the data has been scaled appropriately in terms of the engine power since data only for smaller vehicles was available. The study obtained the scaled values by multiplying the data for smaller engines, batteries, and inverter by the power ratio between the smaller vehicle and the pushback/bus. In cases where a range of values was available, the average was used. In each assessment there are three elements of the system inventory to consider: the manufacturing, the energy required for manufacturing, and the associated energy source.

The electric vehicle system inventory, shown in Tables 10 and 11, includes the energy demand used in obtaining and refining the raw materials, as well as the energy used to produce each component. Ranges of values are available for the manufacturing component because of factors including the manufacturing region/country, the use of recycled material, and the processes used to mine and refine raw material. For example, a study done by the World Steel Association (2015) emphasized the ability to reduce environmental impact by reusing, remanufacturing, or recycling steel; however, this LCA does not consider these methods. In another study Peiro and Mendez (2013) report there to be a lack of quantitative data regarding the material and energy requirements for extraction and refinement of rare earth materials because over 95% of the production is in China. Additionally, one of the primary processes in refining rare earth materials is separation from other minerals. These processes can vary dramatically in method and energy requirements depending on the other minerals (Peiro and Mendez, 2013). Silica, another raw material used to produce an engine, is similar: some primary factors that affect production emissions are the furnace operation and the properties of the raw materials (Kero et al., 2016).

The amount of energy required to manufacture an electric vehicle battery is high enough to render the energy to construct the engine and inverter negligible (Kurland, 2019). Kurland acknowledges that energy usage estimates for battery manufacturing also vary, largely because of manufacturing facility size and the estimation method itself. This study uses a CED of 1,126 MJ per 1KWh of battery (obtained using the Argonne National Laboratory Greenhouse Gases, Regulated Emissions and Energy Use in Transportation – GREET - Model) and encompasses energy consumed by the raw material production and transportation in addition to the battery manufacturing process (Dai et al., 2019).

Finally, the environmental impact is extremely sensitive to the source of energy generation (Kurland, 2019). Tables 10 and 11 show the global warming potential, in terms of equivalent carbon dioxide, for the production, refinement and manufacturing of the engine and battery. This study assumes that the batteries will be replaced twice during each vehicle's lifetime.

Raw Materials - Engine and Inverter	Amount		CED (MJ/kg)	GHG (kg CO2-eq/kg)	CED (MJ/vehicle)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/vehicle)	Reference
Copper	16	kg	60-125	3.0-5.0	1480	64	Environmentally Benign
Steel	130.7	kg	6-15	2-2.5	1372	294	Manufacturing, n.d; World Steel
Rare Earth	4	kg	6-3	65.4	0.024	261.6	Association, 2015; Peiro and Menzed, 2013:
Silica	1.3	kg	230-235	3.4	310	4.5	Browning et al., 2016;
Ferrite	13.3	kg	20-25	2-2.5	300	30	Kero et al., 2016
Battery Manufacture	Amount		CED (MJ/kWh)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/kWh)	CED (MJ/battery)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/battery)	Reference
TOTAL ELECTRICITY AND MATERIALS	360	kWh	1126	72.9	405360	26244	Dai et al., 2019

 Table 10 Electric Pushback Tractor Vehicle System Life Cycle Inventory

Table 11 Electric Bus Vehicle System Life Cycle Inventory

Raw Materials - Engine and Amount CED (MJ/kg) Inverter	GHG (kg CO2- eq/kg)	CED (MJ/vehicle)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/vehicle)	Reference
--	---------------------------	---------------------	-----------------------------	-----------

Copper Steel	12 98	kg kg	60-125 6-15	3.0-5.0 2-2.5	1110 1029	48 220.5	Environmentally Benign Manufacturing, n.d; World Steel Association, 2015; Peiro
Silica Ferrite	3 1 10	kg kg kg	0-3 230-235 20-25	3.36 2-2.5	232.5 225	3.36 22.5	and Menzed, 2013; Browning et al., 2016; Kero et al., 2016
Battery Manufacture	A	mount	CED (MJ/kWh)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/kWh)	CED (MJ/battery)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/battery)	Reference
TOTAL ELECTRICITY AND MATERIAL	13 S	80 kWh	1126	72.9	202680	13122	Dai et al., 2019

The diesel engine is similarly evaluated and displayed in Tables 12 and 13, with the engine and transmission being the components assessed. The reference vehicle used in this report was a truck with 250 kW power (Shi, et al. 2015). The buses in this study assume the same values as this truck; however, pushback tractors require scaling the values by the power ratio 2:1. The material value ranges for energy demand and emissions in steel and iron production are from the same source as Tables 10 and 11. A report by the International Aluminum Institute (International Aluminum Institute, 2020) gives the aluminum and alloy values.

Raw Materials (Engine and Transmission)	Amou	ınt	CED (MJ/kg)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/kg)	CED (MJ/vehicle)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/kg)	Reference
Steel	4	kg	6-15	2-2.5	60	9	
Iron	68	kg	6-15	2-2.5	1020	153	
Cast Aluminum	160	kg	14.9	11.5	2384	1840	World Steel Association,
Alloy	12	kg	14.9	11.5	178.8	138	2015;
Cast Iron (Transmission)	140	kg	6-15	2-2.5	2086	315	Institute, 2020
Cast Aluminum (Transmission)	20	kg	14.9	11.5	298	230	
Energy	Amou	ınt			CED (MJ/Engine& Transmission)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/engine)	Reference
Manufacturing of Diesel Engine and Transmission	16532	MJ			16532	965	Shi, et al., 2015; Hawkins et al., 2012

 Table 12 Life Cycle Inventory for Pushback with Combustion Engine

Raw Materials (Engine and Transmission)	Amo	unt	CED (MJ/kg)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/kg)	CED (MJ/vehicle)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/kg)	Reference
Steel	2	kg	6-15	2-2.5	30	4.5	
Iron	34	kg	6-15	2-2.5	510	76.5	
Cast Aluminum	80	kg	14.9	11.5	1192	920	World Steel Association.
Alloy	6	kg	14.9	11.5	89.4	69	2015;
Cast Iron (Transmission)	70	kg	6-15	2-2.5	1043	157.5	Institute, 2020
Cast Aluminum (Transmission)	10	kg	14.9	11.5	149	115	
Energy	Amo	unt			CED (MJ/Engine& Transmission)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/engine)	Reference
Manufacturing of Diesel Engine and Transmission	8266	MJ			8,266	483	Shi, et al., 2015; Hawkins et al., 2012

 Table 13 Life Cycle Inventory for Buses with Combustion Engine

4.2.2 Charging Infrastructure

The infrastructure includes only the charging component, except in the case of dynamic wireless charging, which requires additional pavement installation. Regular pavement maintenance occurs regardless of the type of GSE and is therefore not considered. Tables 14 and 15 list the inventories of all GSE infrastructures.

The data for the dynamic wireless charging considers the demolishing of existing pavement, the installation of the wireless charging components, and a full-depth replacement of pavement (Marmioli et al., 2019). The life cycle inventory includes the production and transportation of the asphalt, bituminous emulsion and concrete, and the construction equipment used. The EcoInvent database was primarily used for the wireless charging components.

The data for stationary wireless charging and plug-in charging were obtained from the from an all-electric bus system study (Bi et al., 2015). The charges components were modeled based on a 60 kW wireless charger that was under development at University of Michigan-Dearborn. The plug-

in charger was modeled based on a 2013 Chevrolet Volt charger, also 60 kW. For stationary wireless charger, the ratio used to scale it was based on its power. For plug-in charger, the ratio used was based on the charger dimension. The dimension data was obtained from the Proterra chargers' product (Vederek.com/Proterra), while a 60 kW charger has a power cabinet of 31 cubic feet, the 500 kW version has 129 cubic feet. The total value for CED and GHG is also based on the number for chargers. The pushback fleet needs 51 wireless charging (on-board and off board), and 51 plug-in chargers. The bus fleet needs 16 on-board wireless charging components, 4 off-board wireless chargers, and 16 plug-in chargers.

Wireless Charging	Amount		CED (MJ/charger and MJ/km*)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/charger and kgCO2eq/km)	CED (MJ)	GHG (kg CO2-eq)	Reference
Dynamic Wireless Charging (on-board)	50	units	36,000	2,060	1,800,000	103,000	
Dynamic Wireless Charging (off- board)	3.1	km	4,961,692*	168,316*	15,381,245	521,780	
Dynamic Wireless Charging Total					17,181,245	624,780	Zicheng et al., 2015
StationaryWireless Charging (on-borad)	53	units	36,000	2,060	1,908,000	109,180	and Marmioli et
Stationary Wireless Charging (off- borad)	53	units	152,000	9,060	8,056,000	480,180	al., 2019
Stationary Wireless Charging Total					9,964,000	589,360	
Plug-In Chargers	An	10unt	CED (MJ/charger)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/charger)	CED (MJ)	GHG (kg CO2-eq)	Reference
Plug-in Charger	51	units	312,348.7	18,990.8	15,929,782	968,531	Zicheng et al., 2015 calculated

Table 14 Charging Infrastructure Inventory for Pushback Tractors

Table 15 Charging Infrastructure for Buses

Wireless Charging Amount	CED (MJ/charger and MJ/km*)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/charger and kgCO2eq/km)	CED (MJ)	GHG (kg CO2-eq)	Reference
--------------------------	-----------------------------------	---	----------	--------------------	-----------

Plug-in Charger	16	units	312,348.7	18,990.8	4,997,579	303,853	Zicheng et al., 2015
Plug-In Chargers	Am	ount	CED (MJ/charger)	GHG (kg CO2- eq/charger)	CED (MJ)	GHG (kg CO2-eq)	Reference
Stationary Wireless Charging Total					1,184,000	69,200	
Stationary Wireless Charging (off- board)	4	units	152,000	9,060	608,000	36,240	et al., 2019
StationaryWireless Charging (on- board)	16	units	36,000	2,060	576,000	32,960	and Marmioli
Doard) Dynamic Wireless Charging Total					11,752,707	412,109	Zicheng et al., 2015
Dynamic Wireless Charging (off-	2.25	km	4,961,692	168,316	11,176,707	379,149	
Dynamic Wireless Charging (on-	16	units	36,000	2,060	576,000	32,960	

4.2.3 Vehicle Operation

The vehicle operation accounts for the electricity used to charge the batteries and the diesel used in the conventional ICE. Natural gas is the assumed source of the electricity profile for this hypothetical airport region (U.S. Energy Information Association , 2019). A natural gas power plant typically operates at 42% efficiency; however, the closest power plant to the studied airport is a combined cycle plant, which operates at 60% efficiency. This is the value used in the analysis. The CED for electricity production includes the sum of the energy produced by the power plant, the energy loss from production, and the energy required to produce the natural gas itself. The CED and GW contribution from the production of natural gas are from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) Life Cycle Inventory (LCI) database (Federal LCA Commons, 2020).

The diesel fuel system data, collected from the NREL LCI database, includes the energy and GHG emissions used in producing and transporting the diesel and the emissions from the pushbacks consuming diesel (Federal LCA Commons, 2020). Table 16 lists the CED and GW for the electric and diesel fuel sources.

Energy Source	Phase	CED	unit	GHG	unit	Reference
Diesel	Diesel Production (Upstream)	46.44	MJ/L	7.4E-05	kgCO2/L	
	Consumption (Combustion)	38.68	MJ/L	2.66	kgCO2/L	Federal LCA
Electricity	Natural Gas Production	0.83	MJ/kWh	0.16	kgCO2/kWh	Commons, 2020
	Electricity Production	0.46	MJ/kWh	0.25	kgCO2/kWh	

Table 16 Total CED and GW for Operational Energy Demands

4.3 Results and Discussion

The goal of life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) is to compare the environmental impacts of four charging/fueling methods, in terms of the functional unit. The impact categories considered in this analysis are cumulative energy demand (CED), and Global Warming (GW). The life-cycle phases analyzed included Vehicle Manufacturing, Charger Construction, and Operation.

4.3.1 Cumulative Energy Demand

Cumulative Energy Demand (CED) impact analysis calculates the total primary energy input for the generation of a product, material, system or process. Tables 17 and 18 summarize the CED value per phase and fueling/charging system for the pushback and bus fleets in terms of the LCA function unit, while Figures 15 and 16 show the values with the diesel fueled system as the normalized reference.

	Equipment Manufacturing (GJ)	Charger Construction (GJ)	Operation (GJ)	Total (GJ)
Diesel Fueled	104	-	258,907	259,011
Plug-in Charger	1,915	1,463	13,749	17,127
Stationary Wireless Charging	1,999	919	14,354	17,273
Dynamic Wireless Charging	1,890	1,588	13,566	17,044





Figure 15 Cumulative Energy Demand of diesel fueled Pushback Tractor Fleet with Internal Normalization

	Equipment Manufacturing (GJ)	Charger Construction (GJ)	Operation (GJ)	Total (GJ)
Diesel Fueled	50	-	187,794	187,844
Plug-in Charger	912	463	11,300	12,675
Stationary Wireless Charging	912	110	11,300	12,322
Dynamic Wireless Charging	912	1,088	11,300	13,301

Table 18 CED (GJ) per phase and functional unit – Bus Fleet



Figure 16 Cumulative Energy Demand Internal of diesel fueled Bus Fleet with Internal Normalization

For both fleets, the highest CED impact occurs in the operation phase because of the magnitude of energy required to operate over 30 years. Also, for both fleets, the system with higher CED is diesel-fueled vehicles. The energy used to produce diesel is extremely high, for all domestic and foreign crude production, transport, refining and diesel fuel transport, the used energy rate is 1.2MJ/MJ of final fuel. Resulting in 46.4 MJ per liter of diesel. On the other hand, to produce 1 kWh from natural gas, the energy require is 0.83 MJ.

Comparing the electric options, in the pushback tractor case, they all have very similar results, however differing in the charger construction stage. Although the stationary wireless charging has the most number of vehicles, and therefore battery replacement, compared to the other systems, the plug-in charger has a higher impact per charger due to its higher power and dimension, and dynamic wireless charging require high energy for its construction. The CED has its higher impact on stationary wireless charger, followed by plug-in charger, and lastly dynamic wireless charging. For the bus fleet the highest impact is associate to the dynamic wireless charging because

of the charging lane construction, which requires more energy than manufacturing plug-in and stationary wireless charger. The second highest CED is due to plug-in charger, because of its high impact per charger and total number of chargers, 16. Stationary wireless charger has the lowest impact, also the lowest number of chargers requires, 16 on-board but only 4 off-board.

4.3.2 Global Warming

Global Warming impact compares GHG emissions using Global Warming Potential (GWP). GW has a strong relationship with overall environmental impacts and is therefore a primary factor in comparing the environmental load of different systems. Tables 19 and 20 summarize the GW value per phase and fueling/charging system in terms of the LCA function unit, while Figures 17 and 18 show the values with the diesel fueled system as the normalized reference.

	Equipment Manufacturing (10 ³ kgCO ₂)	Charger Construction (10 ³ kgCO ₂)	Operation (10 ³ kgCO ₂)	Total (10 ³ kgCO ₂)
Diesel Fueled	39	-	8,091	8,130
Plug-in Charger	126	89	3,446	3,661
Stationary Wireless Charging	132	54	3,598	3,783
Dynamic Wireless Charging	124	58	3,400	3,582

Table 19 GW (10³kgCO₂) per phase and function unit for pushback tractor fleet



Figure 17 Global Warming Internal Normalization based on diesel fueled system for pushback tractor fleet

	Equipment Manufacturing (10 ³ kgCO ₂)	Charger Construction (10 ³ kgCO ₂)	Operation (10 ³ kgCO ₂)	Total (10 ³ kgCO ₂)
Diesel Fueled	19	-	5,869	5,888
Plug-in Charger	61	28	3,634	3,722
Stationary Wireless Charging	61	6	3,634	3,701
Dynamic Wireless Charging	61	38	3,634	3,732

Table 20 GW (10³kgCO₂) per phase and function unit for bus fleet



Figure 18 Global Warming Internal Normalization based on diesel fueled system for bus fleet

Like the CED, the highest impact occurs in the operation phase. For both fleets, the conventional diesel fueled vehicle has the highest GW impact, because of the emissions from fossil fuel burning. When comparing the electric options, the global warming impact are all very similar on both fleets. In the bus fleet is possible to observe the high impact of the dynamic charging lane construction compared to the other chargers, however pushback fleet has a different result.

For pushbacks, the chargers' construction impact has the opposite behavior because the number of plug-in chargers and stationary wireless chargers are very high, 51 and 53 respectively. This high numbers of chargers makes the impact of the dynamic wireless charging lane construction smaller. Since pushback vehicles are used 24/7, this study assumed the worse-case scenario where all pushbacks could charge at the same time, and so a charger for each vehicle was assumed. However, a charging operation optimization could change these results.

Chapter 5 Conclusions

5.1 Findings and Conclusions

The transportation sector contributes to a significant portion of greenhouse gas emission. Increasing the use of electric vehicles will mitigate the overall pollution of this sector, especially if supplied by electricity that comes from renewable source. To guarantee a large adaptation of electric vehicles, developing a charging infrastructure is crucial.

This study analyzed life-cycle costs of charging infrastructure for electric ground fleet in airports, as compared to the conventional fossil fuel option. The results show that the conventional fossil fuel option requires less investment initially, but it costs most over its lifetime. The LCCA results for the pushback tractors that plug-in charging has the lowest cumulative cost followed by stationary wireless charging, and then dynamic wireless charging., while for the inter-terminal bus fleet, three electric charging methods show negligible differences in cumulative costs. This indicates that the most cost-effective charging infrastructure may vary depending on driving mileage and system design.

The use of LCCA to analyze new systems and infrastructures for decision-making is highly recommended. The data provided by LCCA increase the level of information for a more informed decision. Knowing lifetime cost, instead of having only the initial investment, can change the course of a project, and decrease the payback time. Electric charging techniques are available in the market now but face several barriers for implementation. However, differently from the initial investment; the lifetime cost should not be one of those barriers. Decisions on implementation of electric vehicles should be based on long-term cost benefit.

Together with the LCCA, this study also studied the life cycle assessment of different charging technologies. Electric vehicles operate emitting less pollutants than conventional vehicles, however, to understand the real environmental benefit of this mobility method, it is necessary to account the impacts from material extraction until its disposal.

The results of the LCA showed the diesel production phase has the greatest CED impact on the conventional vehicle scenario; it accounts for 99.9% of conventional vehicle system CED for both fleets. The overall environmental impact has the same results in both electric ground fleets. Conventional combustion vehicles present a much higher CED and GW than the electric options for pushbacks and bus fleets. For pushback fleet, all the electric options have very similar results for both impact categories. However, when analyzing the vehicle manufacturing phase, and charger construction phase the impacts has more noticeable difference. Since to perform the same service level it was necessary to increase the number of vehicles in the plug-in and stationary wireless charging has the highest impact in the equipment manufacturing phase. In the charger construction phase, plug-in and dynamic wireless chargers have very similar results for GW plug-in charger has the highest impact.

For the bus fleet, in which does not operate in full capacity and so there was no need to consider extra vehicles. The stationary wireless charging system has lowest impact for both categories. This result is due to the small number of stationary wireless chargers, only 4 off-board chargers, compared to 16 plug-in chargers and 1.4-mile dynamic wireless charging lane. Although the designs between electric systems differ, the difference between the impact categories are extremely small. On the other hand, conventional combustion bus fleet has much larger environmental impacts, due to the fuel combustion on the operation phase. The operation phase has the greatest impact,
however, is important to emphasize that the impact on the equipment manufacturing and charger construction for the electric options are higher than for the conventional vehicle.

This simplified analysis represents a first step in the comparison of different charging methods for electric vehicle against conventional vehicles. The LCA did not consider maintenance of vehicles and charging infrastructure, and it assumed that vehicle construction and assembly, as well as end of life, are the same for all four scenarios. This study recommends further exploration of those assumptions as the next steps to support a better decision-making process.

5.2 Future Research Recommendations

Different charging infrastructures should be further studied, such as battery swapping station, stationary charging station, or in-motion charging. Each technology presents benefits and challenges, and the most adequate solution relies on the scale of the project, initial funds, government incentives, and benefit-cost ratio.

Several pilot projects have been built in the field, mostly using ICPT technology for the inmotion charging solution. Although those projects have relevant outputs that provide information for a decision-making process on this sector, there is lack of relevant real-life data. Further research that provides long-term field performance of electric roads need be performed for different traffic and climate conditions. Maintenance and operations data need to be monitored to supply more information about infrastructure performance.

This study showed that in an airport environment, where GSE uses close internal roads, electric vehicles (pushbacks and inter-terminal buses) have lower cumulative cost and lower environmental impacts when compared to its conventional ICE vehicles. The substitution of conventional buses

for electric buses is recommended, however the type of charging technology should be analyzed for each project.

References

- "Proterra Ready for Electric Bus Battery Leasing With \$200-Million Credit Facility", 2019. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/sebastianblanco/2019/04/18/proterra-ready-forelectric-bus-battery-leasing-with-200-million-credit-facility/#2261ab702314 [Accessed 2 November 2019]
- A. Ahmad, M. S. Alam and R. Chabaan (2018). A Comprehensive Review of Wireless Charging Technologies for Electric Vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification* 4 (1), 38 - 63.
- Aber, J. (2016). Electric Bus Analysis for New York City Transit. Columbia University. Retrieved from http://www.columbia.edu/~ja3041/Electric%20Bus%20Analysis%20for%20NYC%20Transit %20by%20J%20Aber%20Columbia%20University%20-%20May%202016.pdf [Accessed 2 December 2019]
- Ahmad, A., Alam, M. S., and Chabaan R. (2018). A Comprehensive Review of Wireless Charging Technologies for Electric Vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification* 4 (1), 38 - 63.
- Ahn, S. (2017). On-Line Electric Vehicle (OLEV) Project and Vehicular Wireless Power Transfer Technology. Presentation. Retrieved from: http://greentechlatvia.eu/wp-content/uploads/bskpdf-manager/2-5a_OLEV_Project_and_Technology_(Ahn)_rev_a_15.pdf
- All-Electric Vehicles. Fueleconomy.gov. Retrieved from: https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/evtech.shtml [Accessed 30 October 2019]
- Asplund G., Rehman B. (2014). Conductive feeding of electric vehicles from the road while driving. Conference: 2014 4th International Electric Drives Production Conference (EDPC). doi: 10.1109/EDPC.2014.6984418
- Baek, J, H. Ozer, H. Wang, I.L. Al-Qadi, Effects of Interface Conditions on Reflective Cracking Development in Hot-Mix Asphalt Overlays, *Road Materials and Pavement Design*, Vol. 11, No. 2, 2010, pp. 307-334.
- Bansal, P. (2015). Charging of Electric Vehicles: Technology and Policy Implications. *Journal of Science Policy & Governance*, 6.
- Bateman D., Leal D., Reeves S., Emre M., Stark L., Ognissanto F., Mayers R., Lamb M. (2018) Electric Road Systems: a solution for the future? 2018SPO4EN World Road Association. <u>https://www.piarc.org/en/</u>
- Beeldensa, A., Hauspiec, P. and Perikd, H., 2016. Induction Charging Through Concrete Roads: A Belgian Case Study and Application, 1st European Road Infrastructure Congress, Leeds, United Kingdom

- Bi, Z., Song, L., De Kleine, R., Mi, C.C. and Keoleian, G. A. (2015). Plug-in vs. Wireless charging: Life cycle energy and greenhouse gas emissions for an electric bus system. *Applied Energy* 146, pp. 11 – 19.
- Bi, Z., Kleine, R.D. and Keoleian, G. A. (2017). Integrated Life Cycle Assessment and Life Cycle Cost Model for Comparing Plug-in versus Wireless Charging for an Electric Bus System. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 21(2), pp.344-355.
- BNEF (2019). Battery pack prices fall as market ramps up with market average at \$156/kWh in 2019. Retrieved from: https://about.bnef.com/blog/battery-pack-prices-fall-as-market-ramps-up-with-market-average-at-156-kwh-in-2019/ [Accessed 20 January 2020]
- Browning, C., Northey, S., Haque, N., Bruckard, W., & Cooksey, M. (2016). Life Cycle Assessment of Rare Earth Production from Monazite. REWAS; Towards Materials Resource Sustainability, 83-88.
- Buch, N. (2007). "Precast Concrete Panel Systems for Full-Depth Pavement Repairs: Field Trials." Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Michigan State University, FHWA-HIF-07-019
- Buja, G., Bertoluzzo, M. and Dashora, H.K., 2016. Lumped track layout design for dynamic wireless charging of electric vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 63(10), pp.6631-6640.
- Bull, J. W., & Woodford, C. H. (1997). Design of Precast Concrete Pavement Units for Rapid Maintenance of Runways. *Computers and Structures*, 64(1), 857-864.
- Cai, H. and Xu, M. (2013). Greenhouse Gas Implications of Fleet Electrification Based on Big Data-Informed Individual Travel Patterns. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(16), pp.9035-9043.
- Chabot, A. and Deep, P., 2018, June. 2D Multilayer Analysis of Electrified Roads with Charging Box Discontinuities.
- Channegowda, J., Pathipati, V. and Williamson, S. (2015). Comprehensive review and comparison of DC fast charging converter topologies: Improving electric vehicle plug-to-wheels efficiency. 2015 IEEE 24th International Symposium on Industrial Electronics (ISIE).
- Chen, F. (2016). Sustainable Implementation of Electrified Roads : Structural and Material Analyses (PhD dissertation). Retrieved from <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:kth:diva-195669</u> [Accessed 20 Dec 2018]
- Chen, F., Balieu, R., Córdoba, E. and Kringos, N., 2019. Towards an understanding of the structural performance of future electrified roads: a finite element simulation study. *International Journal of Pavement Engineering*, 20(2), pp.204-215
- Chen, F., Taylor, N. and Kringos, N. (2015). Electrification of roads: Opportunities and challenges. *Applied Energy*, 150, pp.109-119.

- Chen, F., Taylor, N., Balieu, R. and Kringos, N., 2017. Dynamic application of the Inductive Power Transfer (IPT) systems in an electrified road: Dielectric power loss due to pavement materials. *Construction and Building Materials*, *147*, pp.9-16.
- Chen, Z., Liu w., Yin Y. (2017). Deployment of stationary and dynamic charging infrastructure for electric vehicles along traffic corridors. *Transportation Research Part C Emerging Technologies* 77, 185 206.
- Cheng F., Coronado C., Balieu R., Kringos N. (2018). Structural performance of electrified roads: A computational analysis. Journal of Cleaner Production 195 (10), 1338 1349.
- Cheng, F., Birgisson B., Kringos N. (2015). Electrification of Roads: Infrastructural Aspect. Transportation Research Board 94th Annual Meeting. Washington, DC.
- Cheng, F., Taylor N., Kringos N. (2015). Electrification of roads: Opportunities and challenges. *Applied Energy* 150, 109 119.
- Choi, S., Gu, B., Jeong, S. and Rim, C. (2015). Advances in Wireless Power Transfer Systems for Roadway-Powered Electric Vehicles. *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, 3(1), pp.18-36.
- CIRCE, Research Center for Energy Resources and Consumption (2017). *Project Victoria*. Presentation [online]. Retrieved from: <u>http://greentechlatvia.eu/wp-content/uploads/bsk-pdf-manager/1-8_Project_Victoria_(Bludszuweit)_8.pdf</u> [Accessed 6 June 2019]
- Cirimele, V., Torchio, R., Virgillito, A., Freschi, F. and Alotto, P., 2019. Challenges in the Electromagnetic Modeling of Road Embedded Wireless Power Transfer. *Energies*, *12*(14), p.2677.
- Connolly, D. (2017). Economic viability of electric roads compared to oil and batteries for all forms of road transport. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 18, pp.235-249.
- Dai, Q., Kelly, J. C., Gaines, L., & Wang, M. (2019). Life Cycle Analysis of Lithium-Ion Batteries for Automotive Applications. *Batteries*, 1-15.
- Das, S., Pal, K., Goswami, P., Kerawalla, M. (2018). Wireless Power Transfer in Electric Vehicles. *International Journal of Applied Environmental Sciences*, 13, pp. 643-659.
- Deloitte (2010). Gaining Traction: A customer view of electric vehicle mass adoption in the U.S. automotive market. Report.
- Dijk, M., Orsato, R. and Kemp, R. (2013). The emergence of an electric mobility trajectory. *Energy Policy*, 52, pp.135-145.
- Domingues-Olavarría, G., Márquez-Fernández, F., Fyhr, P., Reinap, A. and Alaküla, M. (2018). Electric Roads: Analyzing the Societal Cost of Electrifying All Danish Road Transport. World Electric Vehicle Journal, 9(1), p.9.

- Electreon. (2019). *About | Electreon*. [online] Available at: https://www.electreon.com/about-1 [Accessed 3 Jul. 2019].
- El-Shahat, A., Ayisire, E., Wu, Y., Rahman, M. and Nelms, D. (2019). Electric Vehicles Wireless Power Transfer State-of-The-Art. *Energy Procedia*, 162, pp.24-37.
- Energetics Incorporated, Clean Communities of Central New York, The Ithaca-Tompkins County Transportation Council (2017). Tompkins County Plug-in Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Plan: Charging Station Installation Analysis. Contract No. 57495. Retrieve from https://tompkinscountyny.gov/files2/itctc/projects/EV/Tompkins%20EVSE%20Installation%2 0Analysis%20FINAL.pdf [Accessed 1 November 2019]
- eRoadArlanda. (2019). *eRoadArlanda*. [online] Available at: https://eroadarlanda.com/ [Accessed 15 Jun. 2019].
- Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget. Memorandum for the heads of departments and agencies M-20-07. 2020 Discount Rate for OMB Circular No. A-94. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/M-20-07.pdf [12 March 2020]
- Feasibility analysis and development of on-road charging solutions for future electric vehicle (2016). Infrastructure of FABRIC SATORY test site. Presentation. FABRIC Conference, Brussels. [online] Retrieved from: <u>https://www.fabric-</u> project.eu/images/Presentations/midterm_event/3.b.FABRIC_Conference_FABRICResults_Inf rastructure_FABRIC_test_sites_LAPORTE.pdf [Accessed 24 June 2019]
- Federal LCA Commons. (2020, April 20). *Natural gas, extracted*. Retrieved from Federal LCA Commons: https://www.lcacommons.gov/lcacollaboration/National_Renewable_Energy_Laboratory/USLCI/dataset/PROCESS/c11e9a 47-4f90-3b07-8ea7-ffd845c572ab
- Fisher, T., Farley, K., Gao, Y., Bai, H. and Tse, Z. (2014). Electric vehicle wireless charging technology: a state-of-the-art review of magnetic coupling systems. *Wireless Power Transfer*, 1(2), pp.87-96.
- Fueleconomy.gov. (2019). *All-Electric Vehicles*. [online] Available at: https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/evtech.shtml [Accessed 3 Apr. 2019].
- García-Vázquez, C., Llorens-Iborra, F., Fernández-Ramírez, L., Sánchez-Sainz, H. and Jurado, F. (2017). Comparative study of dynamic wireless charging of electric vehicles in motorway, highway and urban stretches. *Energy*, 137, pp.42-57.
- Gardner T., Halling M. W. (2017). Infrastructure Issues Related to In-Motion Electric Wireless Power Transfer (Report Number: CAIT-UTC-NC30.) Logan, Utah: Utah State University.
- Gill, J.S., Bhavsar, P., Chowdhury, M., Johnson, J., Taiber, J. and Fries, R. (2014). Infrastructure Cost Issues Related to Inductively Coupled Power Transfer for Electric Vehicle. *Procedia Computer Science* (32), pp.544–552.

- Govtech.com. (2019). On-the-Fly Electric Vehicle Charging Demonstrated on Test Track in France. [online] Available at: https://www.govtech.com/fs/On-the-Fly-Electric-Vehicle-Charging-Demonstrated-on-Test-Track-in-France.html [Accessed 3 Jul. 2019].
- Hawkins, T., Singh, B., Majeau-Bettez, G. and Strømman, A. (2012). Comparative Environmental Life Cycle Assessment of Conventional and Electric Vehicles. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 17(1), pp.53-64.
- He, Y., Kockelman, K. and Perrine, K. (2019). Optimal locations of U.S. fast charging stations for long-distance trip completion by battery electric vehicles. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 214, pp.452-461.
- Highways England (2015). Feasibility study: Powering electric vehicles on England's major roads. [online] pp.77 - 85. Available at: http://jedlikanyosklaszter.hu/wpcontent/uploads/2015/08/Feasibility-study-Powering-electric-vehicles-on-Englands-majorroads.pdf [Accessed 8 May 2019].
- Hou, H., Xie, J., Zhao, D., Chen, W., Li, Z., Ma, J., Meng, K. and Dong, Z. (2016). Electrical Vehicle Wireless Charging Technology Based on Energy Internet Application in China. *Procedia Computer Science*, 83, pp.1332-1337.
- International Aluminum Institute. (2020). *Primary Aluminum Production Statistics*. Retrieved from World Aluminum; the website of the International Aluminum Institute: http://www.world-aluminium.org/statistics/primary-aluminium-smelting-energy-intensity/
- IEEE Spectrum (2018). Oak Ridge Inches closer to 15-minute wireless EV charging. [online] Available at: <u>http://spectrum.ieee.org/energywise/energy/environment/oak-ridge-inches-closer-to-15minute-wireless-ev-charging</u> [Accessed 27 October 2019]
- Intis.de. (2019). *INTIS Integrated Infrastructure Solutions*. [online] Available at: http://www.intis.de/wireless-power-transfer.html [Accessed 3 Jul. 2019].
- Jang, Y. (2018). Survey of the operation and system study on wireless charging electric vehicle systems. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 95, pp.844-866.
- Jang, Y. (n.d.). Stochastic Systems Modeling for Wireless Charging Electric Vehicle KAIST. Presentation. [online] <u>http://smmso.org/SMMSO2017/downloads/S2.1/Wireless%20Charging%20EV%20(KAIST-JANG).pdf</u> [Accessed 10 October 2019]
- Jasim, A., H. Wang, G. Yesner, A. Safari, and P. Szary, Performance Analysis of Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting in Pavement: Laboratory Testing and Field Simulation, *Transportation Research Record*, Vol. 2673, No. 3, 2019, pp. 115-124

KAIST Wireless Power Transfer Research Center (2013). KAIST OLEV Transportation System. Presentation [online]. Retrieved from: <u>https://olev.kaist.ac.kr/20120323/sub02/KAIST_OLEV_eng_201310.pdf</u> [Accessed 14 February 2019]

- Kalwar K., Aamir M., Mekhilef S. (2015). Inductively coupled power transfer (ICPT) for electric vehicle charging A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 47, 462 475.
- Kalwar, K., Aamir, M. and Mekhilef, S. (2018). A design method for developing a high misalignment tolerant wireless charging system for electric vehicles. *Measurement*, 118, pp.237-245.
- Kar, D., Biswal, S., Sahoo, P., Nayak, P. and Bhuyan, S. (2018). Selection of maximum power transfer region for resonant inductively coupled wireless charging system. AEU - International Journal of Electronics and Communications, 84, pp.84-92.
- Kero, I., Gradahl, S., & Gabriella, T. (2016). Airborne Emissions from Si/FeSi Production. *JOM; The Journal of The Minerals, Metals & Materials Society (TMS)*, 365-380.
- Khan, W., Ahmad, F. and Alam, M. (2019). Fast EV charging station integration with grid ensuring optimal and quality power exchange. *Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal*, 22(1), pp.143-152.
- Kurland, S. D. (2019). Energy use for GWh-scale litium-ion battery production. *Environmental Research Communications*, 1-5.
- Laurischkat, K., Viertelhausen, A. and Jandt, D. (2016). Business Models for Electric Mobility. *Procedia CIRP*, 47, pp.483-488.
- Lee, S., Huh, J., Park, C., Choi, N., Cho, G. and Rim, C. (2010). On-Line Electric Vehicle using inductive power transfer system. 2010 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition.
- Li, W. (2009). High efficiency wireless power transmission at low frequency using permanent magnet coupling. Master of Applied Science. University of British Columbia.
- Lombardi, L., Tribioli, L., Cozzolino, R., & Bella, G. (2017). Comparative environmental assessment of conventional, electric, hybrid and fuel cell powertrains based on LCA. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*.
- Lu, F., Zhang, H. and Mi, C. (2017). A Review on the Recent Development of Capacitive Wireless Power Transfer Technology. *Energies*, 10(11), p.1752.
- Luin, B., Petelin, S. and Al-Mansour, F. (2019). Microsimulation of electric vehicle energy consumption. *Energy*, 174, pp.24-32.
- Machura, P. and Li, Q. (2019). A critical review on wireless charging for electric vehicles. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 104, pp.209-234.
- Mahoor, M., Hosseini, Z. and Khodaei, A. (2019). Least-cost operation of a battery swapping station with random customer requests. *Energy*, 172, pp.913-921.
- Mankins JC. Technology readiness levels. White Paper, April. 1995; 6.
- Marmioli, B., Dotelli, G., & Spessa, E. (2019). Life Cycle Assessment of an On-Road Dynamic Charging Infrastructure. *Applied Sciences*, 1-24.

- Mecke, R. and Rathge C. (2004). High frequency resonant inverter for contactless energy transmission over large air gap. 2004 IEEE 35th Annual Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37551).
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2020. *Guidebook for Developing a Zer- or Low-Emission Roadmap at Airports*. Washington, DC: The National Academies press. http://doi.org/10.17226/25677
- New Jersey Turnpike Authority. Current fuel prices. Retrieved from https://www.njta.com/travelresources/fuel-prices [Accessed 5 March 2020]
- OLEV, (2019). *Online Electric Vehicle*. [online] Available at: https://olev.kaist.ac.kr/en/olevco/3.php [Accessed 20 Jan. 2019].
- Onar, O., Campbell, S., Seiber, L., White, C., Chinthavali, M., Tang, L., Chambon, P., Ozpineci, B. and Smith, D. (2016). *Oak Ridge National Laboratory Wireless Charging of Electric Vehicles CRADA Report*. [online] Oak Ridge, Tennessee. Available at: https://info.ornl.gov/sites/publications/files/Pub68349.pdf [Accessed 3 Jul. 2019].
- Panchal, C., Stegen, S. and Lu, J. (2018). Review of static and dynamic wireless electric vehicle charging system. *Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal*, 21(5), pp.922-937.
- Peiro, L. T., & Mendez, G. V. (2013). Material and Energy Requirement for Rare Earth Production. *The Journal of The Minerals, Metals & Materials Society (TMS)*, 1327-1340.
- Pekir H. (2013). Practical EV integration cases for static and dynamic wireless power transfer. Presentation. Retrieved from: https://www.flandersmake.be/sites/default/files/publicaties/Inductive%20Charging%20-%20Public%20Results.pdf [Accessed 15 June 2019]
- Qiu C., Chau K. T., Liu C., Chan C. C. (2013). Overview of wireless power transfer for electric vehicle charging. World Electric Vehicle Symposium and Exhibition (EVS27), 1-9. doi: <u>10.1109/EVS.2013.6914731</u>
- Qualcomm, F. (2019). From wireless to dynamic electric vehicle charging: The evolution of Qualcomm Halo [video] / Qualcomm. [online] Qualcomm. Available at: https://www.qualcomm.com/news/onq/2017/05/18/wireless-dynamic-ev-charging-evolutionqualcomm-halo [Accessed 3 Jul. 2019].
- Reemeyer, L. (2016, November 23). *Sustainability in Mining*. Retrieved from Resourceful Paths: http://www.resourcefulpaths.com/blog/2016/11/23/what-drives-ghg-emissions-fromcopper-production
- Requia, W., Mohamed M., Higgins C., Arain A., Ferguson M. (2018). How clean are electric vehicles? Evidence-based review of the effects of electric mobility on air pollutants, greenhouse gas emissions and human health. *Atmospheric Environment* 185, 64 – 77.

- Riemann R., Wang D., Bush F. (2015). Optimal location of wireless charging facilities for electric vehicles: Flow-capturing location model with stochastic user equilibrium. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies* 28, 1 – 12.
- Rim, C. and Mi, C. (n.d.). Wireless power transfer for electric vehicles and mobile devices. Book.
- Shi, J., Li, T., Zhang, H., Peng, S., Jiang, Q., & Yin, J. (2015). Life Cycle Environmental Impact Evaluation of Newly Manufactured Diesel Engine and Remanufactured LNG Engine. *Procedia CIRP*, 402-407.
- Shinohara, N., Kubo, Y. and Tonomura, H. (2013). Wireless charging for electric vehicle with microwaves. 2013 3rd International Electric Drives Production Conference (EDPC).
- Smith, M. and Castellano, J. (2015). Costs Associated With Non-Residential Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment. Prepared by New West Technologies, LLC for the U.S. Department of Energy Vehicle Technologies Office. Retrieved from https://afdc.energy.gov/files/u/publication/evse_cost_report_2015.pdf [Accessed 20 December 2019]
- Stamati T., Bauer P. (2013). On-road charging of electric vehicles. Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), Detroit, MI, 1-8. doi: 10.1109/ITEC.2013.6573511
- Sun, L., Ma, D. and Tang, H. (2018). A review of recent trends in wireless power transfer technology and its applications in electric vehicle wireless charging. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 91, pp.490-503.
- Sunmobility.co.in. (2019). *Sun Mobility*. [online] Retrieved from: http://www.sunmobility.co.in/index.html [Accessed 2 Jun. 2019].
- Suul, J. and Guidi, G. (2018). Technology for dynamic on-road power transfer to electric vehicles. Overview and electro-technical evaluation of the state-of-the-art for conductive and inductive power transfer technologies. Retrieved from: https://www.sintef.no/globalassets/project/elingo/18-0733---rapport-3---technology-fordynamic-on-road----6-til-nett.pdf [Accessed 8 Dec. 2018].
- Tan, X., Sun, B., Wu, Y. and Tsang, D. (2018). Asymptotic performance evaluation of battery swapping and charging station for electric vehicles. *Performance Evaluation*, 119, pp.43-57.
- Tayabji, S., Ye, D., & Buch, N. (2012). Joint load transfer and support considerations for jointed precast concrete pavements. *Transportation Research Record*, 2305(2305), 74-80.
- The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, Medicine. (n.d.). *Natural Gas*. Retrieved from What You Need to Know About Energy: http://needtoknow.nas.edu/energy/energy-sources/fossil-fuels/natural-gas/
- The U.S. Federal Transit Administration funded by National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) (2018). "Zero-Emission Bus Evaluation Results: County Connection Battery Electric Buses". Retrieved from https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy19osti/72864.pdf_[Accesses 10 February 2020]

- U.S. Energy Information Association . (2019). *Electricity*. Retrieved from U.S. Energy Information Association : https://www.eia.gov/electricity/state/newjersey/ [Accessed December 2019]
- US Energy Information Administration. Average price for electricity to ultimate customers by enduse sector. Retrieved from https://www.eia.gov/electricity/state/ [Accessed 14 February 2020]
- Vaka, R. and Keshri, R. (2017). Review on Contactless Power Transfer for Electric Vehicle Charging. *Energies*, 10(5), p.636.
- Vederk Proterra. Plug-in charger specifications. [online] vedek.com/Proterra.htm [Accessed 12 September 2020]
- Viktoria Swedish (2016). Electric Roads around the world. Conference of European Directors of Roads. Sweden. Retrieved from

https://www.cedr.eu/download/other_public_files/2016_electric_road_system_workshop/2016 0314_CEDR-workshop-Electric-Road-Systems_03_Viktoria-ICT.pdf [Accessed 10 January 2019]

- Viktoria Swedish ICT on behalf of Volvo GTT and Scania CV (2013). Slide-in Electric Road System. Conductive project report. [online] Volvo GTT. Retrieved from: https://www.viktoria.se/sites/default/files/pub/www.viktoria.se/upload/publications/slidein_conductive_project_report_draft_phase_1_2013-10-18.pdf [Accessed 10 January 2019]
- Viktoria Swedish ICT on behalf of Volvo GTT and Scania CV (2014). Slide-in Electric Road System Inductive Project Report (Report Number: 2013:01 Version 1.05.16.1). Report. Retrived from: https://www.viktoria.se/sites/default/files/pub/www.viktoria.se/upload/publications/slidein_inductive_project_report_phase_1_0.pdf [Accessed 10 January 2019]
- Wang, H. and I.L. Al-Qadi, Evaluation of Surface-Related Pavement Damage due to Tire Braking, *Road Materials and Pavement Design*, Vol. 11, No. 1, 2010, pp. 101-122.
- Wang, H. and I.L. Al-Qadi, Near-Surface Pavement Failure under Multiaxial Stress State in Thick Asphalt Pavement, *Transportation Research Record*, No. 2154, TRB, 2010, pp. 91-99.
- Wang, H., G.J. Xu, Z.L. Wang, and T. Bennert, Flexible Pavement Interface Bonding: Theoretical Analysis and Shear Strength Measurement, *Journal of Testing and Evaluation*, Vol. 46, No.1, 2018, pp. 99-107
- Wang, H., H. Ozer, I.L. Al-Qadi, and A.C. Duarte, "Analysis of Near-Surface Cracking under Critical Loading Conditions Using Uncracked and Cracked Pavement Models, *Journal of Transportation Engineering*, Vol. 139, No. 10, ASCE, 2013, pp. 992-1000.
- WiTricity. (2019). *Automotive Solutions WiTricity*. [online] Available at: https://witricity.com/products/automotive/ [Accessed 30 Jun. 2019].
- World Steel Association. (2015). *Steel in the Circular Economy*. Brussels, Belgium: World Steel Association.

- Yang, S., Yao, J., Kang, T. and Zhu, X. (2014). Dynamic operation model of the battery swapping station for EV (electric vehicle) in electricity market. *Energy*, 65, pp.544-549.
- Yilmaz, M., Buyukdegirmenci, V.T. and Krein, P.T., 2012, General design requirements and analysis of roadbed inductive power transfer system for dynamic electric vehicle charging. In 2012 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- Zhang, Z., Sun, X., Ding, N., & Yang, J. (2019). Life cycle environemtnal assessment of charging infrastructure for electric vehicles in China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 932-941